# WHITE PAPER ON

# CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN LATIN AMERICA

# ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Article 1 of the Convention signed in Paris on 14th December 1960, and which came into force on 30th September 1961, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) shall promote policies designed:

- to achieve the highest sustainable economic growth and employment and a rising standard of living in member countries, while maintaining financial stability, and thus to contribute to the development of the world economy;
- to contribute to sound economic expansion in member as well as non-member countries in the process of economic development; and
- to contribute to the expansion of world trade on a multilateral, non-discriminatory basis in accordance with international obligations.

The original member countries of the OECD are Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, the United Kingdom and the United States. The following countries became members subsequently through accession at the dates indicated hereafter: Japan (28th April 1964), Finland (28th January 1969), Australia (7th June 1971), New Zealand (29th May 1973), Mexico (18th May 1994), the Czech Republic (21st December 1995), Hungary (7th May 1996), Poland (22nd November 1996), Korea (12th December 1996) and the Slovak Republic (14th December 2000). The Commission of the European Communities takes part in the work of the OECD (Article 13 of the OECD Convention).

#### OECD CENTRE FOR CO-OPERATION WITH NON-MEMBERS

The OECD Centre for Co-operation with Non-members (CCNM) promotes and co-ordinates OECD's policy dialogue and co-operation with economies outside the OECD area. The OECD currently maintains policy co-operation with approximately 70 non-member economies.

The essence of CCNM co-operative programmes with non-members is to make the rich and varied assets of the OECD available beyond its current membership to interested non-members. For example, the OECD's unique co-operative working methods that have been developed over many years; a stock of best practices across all areas of public policy experiences among members; on-going policy dialogue among senior representatives from capitals, reinforced by reciprocal peer pressure; and the capacity to address interdisciplinary issues. All of this is supported by a rich historical database and strong analytical capacity within the Secretariat. Likewise, member countries benefit from the exchange of experience with experts and officials from non-member economies.

The CCNM's programmes cover the major policy areas of OECD expertise that are of mutual interest to non-members. These include: economic monitoring, statistics, structural adjustment through sectoral policies, trade policy, international investment, financial sector reform, international taxation, environment, agriculture, labour market, education and social policy, as well as innovation and technological policy development.

#### © OECD 2003

Permission to reproduce a portion of this work for non-commercial purposes or classroom use should be obtained through the Centre français d'exploitation du droit de copie (CFC), 20, rue des Grands-Augustins, 75006 Paris, France, tel. (33-1) 44 07 47 70, fax (33-1) 46 34 67 19, for every country except the United States. In the United States permission should be obtained through the Copyright Clearance Center, Customer Service, (508)750-8400, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923 USA, or CCC Online: www.copyright.com. All other applications for permission to reproduce or translate all or part of this book should be made to OECD Publications. 2. rue André-Pascal. 75775 Paris Ceders 16. France.

#### **Foreword**

Good corporate governance is critical to private-sector led economic growth and enhanced welfare that depend on increased investment, capital market efficiency and company performance. The OECD's work to support good corporate governance is carried out through Regional Corporate Governance Roundtables established in co-operation with the World Bank Group in Asia, Eurasia, Russia, South East Europe and Latin America. The Roundtables provide an effective framework for ongoing policy dialogue and a multilateral exchange of experiences. The approach is inclusive and consensus-driven, building on partnerships with key constituents in participating countries.

The White Paper on Corporate Governance in Latin America was developed by the Latin American Roundtable on Corporate Governance, a forum that brings together policy makers, regulators, business leaders, investors and experts from the region, as well as counterparts from OECD countries. Using the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance as a conceptual framework for analysis and discussion, the White Paper examines the importance of good corporate governance for the region, discusses trends and characteristics particular to the region, and sets out the Roundtable's recommendations and priorities for reform. Launched in 2000, the Roundtable developed this White Paper over the course of four meetings held in Brazil (2000), Argentina (2001), Mexico (2002), and Chile (2003), as well as through ongoing contacts between meetings.

The Latin American Roundtable and the process of developing the White Paper have increased understanding of the challenges and opportunities ahead, including the need for change. But the most critical phase of reform -- implementing the White Paper's recommendations and ensuring that they are enforced -- still lies ahead. To capitalise on the present interest in reform and to turn the White Paper recommendations into reality, efforts must intensify to design policies to achieve these recommendations, and to find ways to ensure their effective implementation.

Co-operation among policy-makers, regulators and private sector practitioners from Latin America as well as from OECD countries has been fundamental to the Roundtable's approach to achieving good corporate governance in the region. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all of the Roundtable's participants, as well as to the Global Corporate Governance Forum, the Inter-American Development Bank and the national institutions that co-hosted the meetings on the White Paper. The OECD and the International Finance Corporation served as the Secretariat for this work, which was carried out pursuant to the Latin America Regional Programme of the OECD Centre for Co-operation with Non-Members (CCNM) in co-operation with the World Bank Group.

I look forward to the continuation of these co-operative efforts. This White Paper should serve as a basis for ongoing dialogue on policy design, implementation and enforcement, and to promote and assess further progress towards good corporate governance in the region.

Donald J. Johnston Secretary General

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 - ABOUT THIS WHITE PAPER	5
CHAPTER 2 - THE IMPORTANCE OF GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AMERICA	
CHAPTER 3 - SOME REGIONAL CHARACTERISTICS	9
CHAPTER 4 - THE REFORM PRIORITIES	13
CHAPTER 5 - RECOMMENDATIONS	15
I. The Rights of Shareholders  II. The Equitable Treatment of Shareholders	18
III. The Role of Stakeholders in Corporate Governance  IV. Disclosure and Transparency	20
V. The Responsibilities of the Board	30
ANNEXES	35
ANNEX A: SUMMARY REVIEW OF LATIN AMERICAN CORPORATE C	
ANNEX B: CASE STUDIES, LESSON OF RECENT REFORM EFFORTS	40
ANNEX C: OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN LATI	
ANNEX D: GLOSSARY	58
ANNEX E: LIST OF PARTICIPANTS	61

#### **CHAPTER 1 - ABOUT THIS WHITE PAPER**

- 1. This White Paper builds on the discussions of the Latin American Corporate Governance Roundtable, which is a regional forum for policy dialogue. The Roundtable is organised in close cooperation among the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, the World Bank, International Finance Corporation and key regional partners from the public and private sectors. Participants in the Latin American Roundtable include senior policy makers, regulators, corporate leaders, investors, labour organisations, other non-government organisations and multilateral organisations with an interest and expertise in the area. The Roundtable process receives financial support from the Global Corporate Governance Forum.
- 2. At its first meeting in São Paulo, Brazil, in April 2000, the Latin American Corporate Governance Roundtable agreed to develop a Regional Corporate Governance White Paper. The purpose of the White Paper is to summarise common policy objectives and reform priorities. In developing the White Paper, the Roundtable has followed the structure of the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, which the Financial Stability Forum has adopted as one of its twelve key standards aiming to promote stability in the global financial system. In addition to the five chapters of the OECD Principles, Roundtable participants agreed to also address questions of implementation and enforcement for inclusion in the White Paper.
- 3. The work to identify common policy objectives and reform priorities has been carried out with a view to concrete steps that can be taken to improve corporate governance and thereby increase investment, capital market efficiency, company performance and social welfare. The White Paper is intended principally for policy makers, regulators, and private standard setting bodies, including stock exchanges. Some recommendations are also directed to corporate executives, board members, individual and institutional investors and other professionals, whose decisions on a day-to-day basis determine the effectiveness of the corporate governance regime. More specifically, the White Paper is intended to:
  - Give policy makers and private sector leaders, including international institutional investors, experts and multilateral institutions, an overview of the main issues and developments in the Latin America region, providing benchmarks for measuring progress;
  - Provide a set of recommendations for reform to improve corporate governance in the region, for implementation by governmental authorities, multilaterals and private sector institutions; and
  - Constitute input to the current assessment of the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance to be completed in 2004.
- 4. The White Paper is a non-binding, consultative document, developed on a consensual basis by an informal, but highly influential group of policy makers, regulators, market participants and other experts. In order to ensure maximum relevance, the White Paper was developed through an inclusive process, endeavouring to consider all constituencies with an interest and expertise in corporate governance. Its

content was discussed during each of the meetings of the Roundtable (São Paulo in April 2000, Buenos Aires in March 2001, Mexico City in April 2002 and Santiago in May 2003) and participants were invited to provide comments during the periods between meetings.

- 5. Several national and regional organisations and groupings have issued guidelines, statements of best practices and recommendations for policy reforms. Also, individual companies and investors active in Latin America have developed policies that include the quality of corporate governance as criteria for their operations and investment decisions. The White Paper should be seen as complementary to these efforts.
- 6. The White Paper will be made available through Roundtable participants to key national policy makers, regulators, standard-setting bodies, relevant private sector institutions and civil society. It will also be submitted to all relevant multilateral institutions, for consideration by their respective governing bodies. The IFC and other Roundtable participants who are investors in the private sector will circulate the White Paper to their current and prospective investees in the region. The White Paper will be widely disseminated directly to the public, and posted on the Internet website of the Roundtable at www.oecd.org/daf/corporate-affairs/.
- 7. The work of the Latin American Corporate Governance Roundtable forms part of a global effort. Similar Roundtables are established in Russia, Asia, South East Europe and Eurasia.

# CHAPTER 2 - THE IMPORTANCE OF GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FOR LATIN AMERICA

- 8. Good corporate governance is a crucial part of private sector-led economic growth in Latin America. It is recognised as a public policy concern of rapidly growing importance in the region, which relies on the private sector as an efficient vehicle for welfare creation. Privatisation of formerly state-owned enterprises has meant that Latin American countries increasingly depend on private sector corporations to create jobs, generate tax revenues and furnish consumers with goods and services. Employment generation, development of indigenous technology, and ultimately the international competitiveness of the Latin American economies must rest on a base of firms that do not suffer from cost of capital disadvantages, and that adapt sound management and corporate governance practices to domestic circumstances.
- 9. The impressive reforms of the public and private pension schemes in much of Latin America and their projected growth provide additional justification for giving special attention to the questions of good corporate governance and capital markets development at this point in time. The responsibility for providing a secure retirement for Latin America's working population has largely shifted to privately-managed pension funds, and a growing portion of these funds is invested in securities of publicly traded companies. The success of these pension systems is therefore dependent on the incentives for, and the ability of, fund managers to make the right judgements about the long-term competitiveness of the companies in which they invest, and the fair treatment of investors by those who control such companies. Assuring the maximum degree of transparency and internal and external accountability by publicly traded companies increases the likelihood that today's investment decisions by pension funds will pay off for retirees down the road.
- 10. The pension fund systems in Latin America are only one demonstration of how essential good corporate governance is for efficiently channelling savings to productive new investment. Good corporate governance plays a critical role in the process of building strong domestic capital markets including the public securities markets, the banking and non-bank financing system and even private equity and venture capital sectors. It increases public confidence in the securities markets, which adds liquidity. It also helps to reduce uncertainty and increases the performance and prospects of institutional investors, including mutual funds and the insurance companies. Deeper, broader and more liquid capital markets serve the investment needs, not only of existing businesses, but also of tomorrow's new enterprises and industries.
- 11. An additional public policy concern relates to the internationalisation of financial markets, where good corporate governance is seen as an important building block in limiting financial turmoil and moderating volatility in today's global financial system. A transparent market environment for international capital flows enhances stability and serves as an early warning system and a buffer for corporate and financial distress. Hence the adoption by the Financial Stability Forum of the OECD Principles as one of its twelve key standards.
- 12. The past two years witnessed a series of high profile corporate governance failures in the United States and other OECD countries. These events contributed to a contraction in the public securities markets

and triggered an array of public and private sector responses, aiming to restore market integrity and public confidence. An important lesson of this experience is that building corporate governance is always a work in progress, even in economies with a well-developed institutional framework.

- 13. Apart from its contribution to lowering capital costs, good corporate governance adds value to the corporation by providing more effective mechanisms for building competitive businesses. Proper checks and balances within the corporation provide for better strategic thinking and provide management with fresh perspectives and "reality checks." Competent, experienced and well-selected company directors add real value to the decision-making of the firms on whose boards they serve. The benefits of good governance in terms of long-term value creation raises confidence among all stakeholders of the corporation. While improved regulations and better enforcement are important steps in the process of improving corporate governance, particularly in emerging market economies, such initiatives need to be complemented by the private sector's awareness and active commitment. Business leaders must therefore play a prominent role in the public dialogue on corporate governance.
- 14. Much of the Roundtable's work, like the public discussions of corporate governance in Latin America and around the world, focuses on the case of publicly traded companies and on non-listed firms with the potential in the short-term to go public. The Roundtable nevertheless recognises that good governance is an important concern also for non-listed companies, most of which will continue to rely on self-financing, private equity sources and the banking system for expansion and growth. Non-listed companies, often founder-owned or family-owned, must adopt sound accounting and auditing practices and appropriate checks and balances in strategic planning and management, if they are to remain competitive. This is particularly important in Latin America where the economic future of the region to a large extent will depend on the success of its small and medium-sized firms. Several of the recommendations made in this White Paper are also intended to have direct application to the case of non-listed companies.
- 15. Accordingly, it is not just investors in the *public* securities markets that have a critical interest in the proper administration and transparency of the companies in which they invest. Banks, private equity operations, specialised financial institutions and other sources of finance outside the public markets need to internalise corporate governance as a critical component of risk assessment and risk management. Failure to take adequate regard of the importance of corporate governance of borrowers (by both banks and their regulators) contributed to recent banking system crises in the region (and elsewhere) and continues to complicate bank/enterprise restructuring.
- 16. Finally, strengthening disclosure, transparency and accountability in private sector firms greatly increases the likelihood of success of the wide and varied efforts being undertaken in the region to contain official corruption and restore public faith in government. Many, if not most, cases of public corruption involve collusion between public officials and private sector participants acting in their capacity as executives, employees or controllers of private firms. Adequate checks and balances within the corporation, proper oversight of executive management by the board of directors, better internal controls and clear lines of accountability reduce the opportunities for managers and others associated with the company to involve the firm in incidents of public corruption.

#### **CHAPTER 3 - SOME REGIONAL CHARACTERISTICS**

- 17. The participants in the Latin American Roundtable are confident that, in today's global economy, corporate governance is a topic that should be discussed and addressed not only at the national and global levels, but also at the regional level. The legal, economic, historical, political, social and linguistic commonalities within Latin America, and the growing regionalisation and internationalisation of the capital markets fully justify taking a regional approach to analysing current challenges and prioritising responses. Fruitful interchanges among the region's policy makers, securities regulators, stock markets, institutes of directors, investor groups and others have taken place both within and outside the context of the Roundtable meetings. Regional dialogue has served as a springboard for collaboration, technology sharing, and valuable collective undertakings. The enthusiastic support that public and private sector participants have shown for the Roundtable and other regional initiatives are ample testament to the value of regional dialogue and decision-making on corporate governance issues in Latin America
- 18. Even before the recent wave of international media attention to high profile corporate governance failures world-wide, this issue crystallised as a critical concern for policy in Latin America's four largest capital markets (namely Argentina, Brazil, Chile and Mexico). More recently, improving governance has emerged as an important public policy priority in the Andean countries, particularly in Colombia, Peru and now Bolivia, and throughout much of the rest of Latin America. Key shared characteristics of the economies in the region today shape both the responses of the corporate sector to rapid technological change and economic globalisation, and the challenges of corporate governance, including:
  - <u>Privatisation</u>. Although the countries of the region have adopted a variety of different models to promote economic transformation and growth, the late 1980s and the 1990s clearly marked a shift in the division of responsibility between the public and private sectors. There is now greater consensus that the private sector must provide most of the goods and services demanded by citizens. However, the promise that privatisation held out for the development of broader and deeper capital markets, greater access to financing and lower cost of capital, has yet to fully materialise.
  - Concentration of Ownership, Defined Control and the Need for Capital. Latin America's publicly traded companies continue to be characterised by a high degree of concentration of ownership. Even among the largest public companies, families more often than not hold controlling stakes. As in most of the rest of the world, family control remains the norm for most of the region's non-listed small and medium-sized enterprises. Clearly identified and actively-engaged majority shareholders can be a great strength for a company by ensuring active oversight of management and by providing a ready source of financial support to the company at critical junctures. However, if retained earnings and the financial resources of controllers are insufficient to meet the needs of growth, the challenge is to tap local and international sources of capital, and to adapt governance practices to satisfy the demands of outside sources of finance, without sacrificing the benefits of the alignment of interests of ownership and defined control.

- Importance of Industrial Groups. The role that industrial, and sometimes financial/industrial, groups play in the development of privately-owned industry in Latin America is well documented. The key characteristics of such groups are common control and ownership of large firms in often unrelated industries, and sometimes close links, if not common control, between large industrial and financial sector enterprises. It is common for the profits of some group companies to serve as "cash cows" to finance the growth of more capital hungry enterprises in the group. Such groups developed in part as an effective means of financing capital intensive enterprises in the absence of efficient capital markets and well-administered legal systems (i.e., groups internalise capital markets). The economic (and political) importance of such groups, and their influence with important financial sector players can crowd out small and medium-sized companies' access to public and even private capital markets. At the same time, the group phenomenon can stunt access to both domestic and international capital markets, even for large enterprises. The opacity that typically characterises intra-group transactions and the absence of independent-level firm decisionmaking are now increasingly seen as obstacles to cost-effective financing. In the course of the past few years, a number of groups have begun to unbundle their operations and more clearly separate the activities, financing and governance of group member companies. How groups re-orient themselves, and the mechanisms they put into place in response to calls for greater transparency and independent management of business lines, are important elements of the evolution of a market economy in the region.
- Restructuring of Banking Systems. The structure of domestic financial systems has changed dramatically in recent years in some of the largest economies in the region. State ownership has declined, and in some countries international banks have replaced domestically controlled institutions that were once closely linked to domestic industrial groups. At the same time, specialised financial intermediaries have come to play a more important role. These developments should bring with them the spread of a more modern credit culture and greater competition among sources of credit as well as among firms seeking finance in both the private and public markets.
- Regionalisation, Internationalisation, and the Importance of Multinational Enterprises. Even during the period of import substitution in the middle to latter part of the twentieth century, economic links with Europe, North America and Japan remained important. Multinational companies continue to maintain a significant presence in Latin America. Today, we are witnessing a new round of economic integration across borders, both within the region and beyond. Mercosur, NAFTA and other sub-regional groupings are important realities. It is hard to speak any longer of their member countries as completely independent economic units. The effects of regionalisation and internationalisation of product markets on cross-border industrial organisation are still "shaking out." One dramatic aspect of this "shake out" is the series of consolidations and changes of control of major energy, telecoms, utility and financial institutions by trans-national enterprises. Side effects of this trend include the exit of some leading domestic blue chips from domestic and international public securities markets and the adoption by local subsidiaries of multinational companies of "hybrid" governance models that incorporate elements of the governance traditions and practices of both the host country and the country of the parent company.
- Limited Domestic Capital Markets and Growing Importance of Foreign Listings. The increasing internationalisation of industry and finance in Latin America has contributed to the recent shrinkage in the number of companies listed in domestic markets, as companies have de-listed and gone private. This comes at a time when domestic trading volumes are already under pressure as trading in shares of the larger regional companies continue to shift to the

deeper depository receipt markets in New York. The transparency standards and substantive corporate governance practices expected by international markets are now also germane to Latin American companies dependent on such markets to raise new capital or maintain liquidity in their securities. In the aftermath of highly-publicised corporate governance failures, U.S. lawmakers, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and the U.S. stock exchanges moved away from their traditional deference to local governance practices of foreign private issuers. Foreign private issuers were explicitly included within the coverage of 2002's Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Today, Latin American companies with American Depository Receipt (ADR) programmes are of necessity grappling with how to adapt their governance practices to comply with applicable requirement of the 2002 legal/regulatory reforms in the United States.

The shift in trading of blue chip firms to the international markets has called into question the viability of domestic stock exchanges and their contribution to national economies. How can stock exchanges that were built on blue chip trading volume now serve the capital raising needs of smaller companies that can not yet migrate to international markets? Markets throughout the region are developing their own responses. Bovespa's Novo Mercado initiative, along with changes in listing standards and the contribution of national exchanges to the development of voluntary codes of best practice, evidence an increasing recognition on the part of the exchanges that healthy mid-cap markets can only be built on a foundation of mandatory and voluntary standards that protect the rights of shareholders and encourage companies to adopt best practices of governance.

- Mandatory Privately-Managed Pension Schemes. The one set of domestic institutional investors that typically carries the most weight in the region is privately managed pension funds. The degree to which pension fund managers view promoting transparency and corporate governance as part of their mandate to maximise return for their clients will be an important determinant of the pace of improvements in the coming years. But the interest of fund managers in maximising returns for investors can not be taken as a given. Whether an individual fund manager takes an active interest in the good performance of individual investee companies depends on the set of incentives the fund manager faces, including the regulatory framework and the character and efficiency of the funds' own governance. Pension fund governance and accountability therefore remains an important public policy priority for the region.
- <u>Legal Traditions and Enforcement Patterns.</u> Countries in Latin American share a common legal origin the European civil code tradition. But the legal/judicial commonalities within the region extend as well to the approaches taken to enforcement of laws and contracts. In general, the incidence of civil litigation is small in comparison to European and North American patterns, with greater emphasis placed on administrative and criminal judicial actions. Private dispute resolution mechanisms, such as mandatory arbitration, are comparatively new and largely untested.

#### **CHAPTER 4 - THE REFORM PRIORITIES**

- 19. Given that the economies, markets and companies of the region face a similar set of challenges, it is not surprising that the Roundtable has come to focus on a common set of issues that derive from these challenges. In focusing on these issues, participants have reached a consensus on the following priorities as most deserving of attention in most or all countries:
  - Taking Voting Rights Seriously. Steps should be taken to facilitate shareholder participation
    in General Meetings and voting of shares. Institutional investors that in many cases have
    taken too passive a role should be encouraged to exercise their ownership rights in a more
    active and informed manner. If the legal framework allows shares with different voting
    rights, this needs to be fully justified and accompanied by commensurately stronger and more
    effective protection of minority shareholders.
  - Treating Shareholders Fairly during Changes in Corporate Control and De-listings. The legal and regulatory framework must provide for clear and *ex ante* rules regarding how minority shareholders are to be treated when there is a change in corporate control. Improvements should also be made to ensure a fair, practical and predictable system for valuing the shares of minority investors in cases of de-listings or exercise of withdrawal rights.
  - Ensuring the Integrity of Financial Reporting and Improving the Disclosure of Related Party Transactions. National accounting standards should be brought into compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the quality of the financial reporting process should be assessed with a view to eliminate conflicts of interest. The disclosure of related party transactions and potential conflicts of interest in such transactions should also be improved and supported by better information about corporate ownership and control structures.
  - **Developing Effective Boards of Directors.** Laws and practices reflect that all directors, individually and collectively, should act independently in the interest of the company and all of its shareholders. There should be greater specificity concerning the procedural steps for fulfilment of the director's duties of care and loyalty and an explicit ambition by boards to clearly define their work procedures as well as those of special board committees. Boards should also improve their ability to manage conflicts of interest and ensure compliance with laws and ethical standards.
  - Improving the Quality, Effectiveness and Predictability of the Legal and Regulatory Framework. Parallel to strengthening the capacity of rule-making and enforcement bodies, steps should also be taken to ensure that the framework supports effective use of private actions. Depending on the legal context, this may include the introduction of class action suits and mechanisms for alternative dispute resolution, such as private arbitration in the areas of company law and corporate governance.

- Continuing Regional Co-operation. Roundtable participants and others with an interest in corporate governance in the region should continue to co-operate on a regional basis, with a view to monitoring the implementation of the conclusions and recommendations reflected in the White Paper, and to exchange experience that will help improve implementation and enforcement of national initiatives.
- 20. Consideration of these priorities needs to take into account the special economic circumstances of the region, in particular the persisting pattern of concentrated ownership and control. In addition, the Roundtable recognises that any adjustments in the regulatory framework should always be carried out after careful analysis of the costs and benefits of introducing new rules. The regulatory impact should be carefully assessed to avoid unintended negative effects that from society's perspective exceed the benefits and hamper economic activity.

#### **CHAPTER 5 - RECOMMENDATIONS**

#### I. The Rights of Shareholders

#### Taking voting rights seriously:

- 21. When voting and dividend rights diverge, the regulatory framework for protection of minority shareholders should be commensurately stronger and more effective.
- 22. Legal frameworks need to provide greater certainty in the relationships among the investors in the equity of an enterprise and the way the various organs of governance may exercise power. Legislative frameworks, stock exchange requirements and securities regulations need to weigh carefully the advantages and disadvantages of permitted forms of equity, and assess whether permitted forms of equity serve the long-run needs of companies and the capital markets. It should be taken into account that large differences in voting rights among the same class of shareholders may create incentives for those with disproportionate voting rights to take decisions that are not in the common interests of all shareholders. The most appropriate solution may be to mandate a one-share/one-vote requirement unless it can be demonstrated that sufficient checks and balances, effective legal protections and enforcement mechanisms are in place to ensure that the contractual and statutory rights of limited voting and non-voting shares will be adequately protected. Investors should also be diligent to understand the risks, and make effective use of their voting rights.
- 23. Steps should be taken to facilitate effective participation of all shareholders in General Meetings and their ability to vote their shares also across national borders.
- 24. The regulatory framework and company practices should eliminate "red tape" concerning the information available to shareholders, their participation in General Meetings and the conduct of General Meetings, including those procedural formalities that can not be shown to serve an effective purpose in protecting the interests of the company or its shareholders. They should also provide for adequate notice periods and voting procedures for Annual and Extraordinary General Meetings of Shareholders, which take into account the time requirements for effective and informed cross-border voting. The legal framework, exchange rules and company by-laws should require the circulation of General Meeting agendas that provide sufficient details and background information about the matters to be addressed for shareholders to make informed decisions. Where "blocking" of shares prior to voting is still required, legislation and practice should move toward a record date system that does not penalise shareholders who wish to vote at the General Meeting. Procedures for shareholders to introduce matters to the agenda should be simplified.
- 25. The legal and regulatory regimes should encourage the development of smooth processes for proxy voting by providing custodians (including ADR depositaries and custodians) with explicit protection against legal liability if they comply with specified and reasonable procedures and carry out their duties without gross negligence. The absence of legal clarity can raise concerns over possible lawsuits that discourage such depositaries and custodians from revising their operating practices to encourage effective and timely share voting by beneficial owners.

- 26. Where non-voting shares are permitted, the legal/regulatory framework and company practices should recognise the interests of the company in providing holders of such equity securities the opportunity to have their views taken into account in the company's decision-making process. Accordingly, under ordinary circumstances holders of non-voting shares should be accorded the same rights and treatment regarding notice of and opportunity to be heard in the General Meetings.
- 27. The regulatory framework and company practices should be adapted to accommodate new information and communication technologies that improve and facilitate dissemination of corporate information and the execution of key ownership functions.
- 28. Stock exchanges and companies should take advantage of new information dissemination technologies to provide shareholders and the markets with as timely access to required disclosures as possible. Securities regulators should review existing technical requirements to encourage the use of secure new information technologies, including requirements that inhibit the voting of shares or granting of proxies by electronic means. Companies should adopt new technologies where they permit shareholders to more effectively and efficiently carry out their functions as holders of equity securities.
- 29. ADR programmes should provide ADR holders with the same rights and practical opportunities to participate in company governance as are accorded to holders of the underlying shares.
- 30. The rights of ADR holders should include pre-emptive rights in new share offerings where such rights are granted to holders of the underlying shares. The systems established by companies, custodians and ADR depositories should be modernised to provide rapid dissemination of shareholder information to ADR holders and timely transmission of their instructions to shareholders meetings. National legislation in the country of the issuer, and the practices of custodians, depositaries and clearinghouses should ensure that the proxy voting system functions equally well for ADR holders as it does for those who hold the underlying shares.
- 31. Blanket proxies to management to exercise voting rights of shares held as ADRs, and practices that similarly introduce a bias in respect of non-voted ADRs, should not be considered good practice and custody agreements that provide for such practices should be avoided.
- 32. Legal provisions intended to provide minority shareholders with the opportunity to elect directors should be workable in practice.
- 33. Where legislation provides for proportional director nomination, cumulative voting or other mechanisms to promote minority shareholder participation, voting systems should function in practice in a way that provides non-controlling shareholders with a realistic opportunity to collectively achieve a voice by influencing the composition of the board of directors. When the legal framework does not include provisions that provide minority shareholders with the opportunity to influence the board composition, other means, such as listing requirements and voluntary commitments among shareholders to achieve a proper diversity among board members could be considered.

# **Encouraging the emergence of active and informed owners:**

- 34. Governments, regulators and beneficiaries should insist that pension funds and other institutional owners have the incentives and governance structures that encourage them to exercise their ownership functions in an informed and effective way.
- 35. The right regulatory environment and good governance practices encourage institutional investors to: (1) make investment decisions that are intended to maximise returns for shareholders; and (2)

effectively exercise their fiduciary duties as shareholders in the companies in which they have invested the funds entrusted to them. The pension system regulatory regime and its supervisory system should provide pension managers with the appropriate incentives to maximise returns on fund investments. The priorities in this area may vary from country to country, but in each case policy makers, regulators and supervisory authorities should be vigilant to protect against the potential for conflicts of interest on the part of fund managers, or fee structures that set inappropriate benchmarks, or other aspects of the regulatory framework that cause managers to act in ways that do not maximise returns for investors.

- 36. Likewise, special attention needs to be paid to the management of investments of state-owned development banks (and their multilateral counterparts, such as International Finance Corporation, Inter-American Investment Corporation, Andean Development Corporation, etc.) and the effects of government-controlled finance allocation on governance. While direct state ownership of industry has declined, in several countries state-channelled resources and multilateral development bank financing remain important sources of long-term financing. Governments and multilateral development banks need to ensure that such sources of financing and guarantees insist on the highest standards of governance and transparency demanded in the capital market. Co-investment strategies, where public and private sector entities invest on the same terms, can provide a mechanism for ensuring a level playing field while encouraging the broader adoption of common governance standards by institutional investors of all types.
- 37. Objective evaluations of governance and transparency practices should be factored into the investment decisions of state-owned and multilateral development banks and affect pricing. State-owned and multilateral development banks should therefore consider policies that recognise the risk mitigation accorded by good governance practices by progressively improving the financing terms for clients as they meet objective benchmarks outlined in national codes or articulated in bank-specific or collectively-developed programmes.
- 38. With a view to encouraging active and informed shareholder participation by pension funds and other institutional investors, outdated and unnecessary restrictions on the ability of such investors to exercise their shareholder rights should be removed.
- 39. Pension funds, both private voluntary and privately managed mandatory schemes, are potentially the most powerful group of domestic investors with an interest in good corporate governance. Given the mandatory nature of some schemes, and the critical social function they perform, regulators need to be particularly diligent that companies that issue securities eligible for investment by pension funds are sufficiently transparent and well-governed.
- 40. At the same time, legislators, regulators and beneficiaries should recognise that existing shortcomings in pension fund governance and regulations that discourage competition in portfolio management (such as requirements that explicitly or implicitly require fund portfolios to mimic an index) limit the incentives for fund managers to put a high enough premium on transparency and governance. An appropriate policy response in such circumstances (and one with which there are a number of recent experiences in the region) may be to modify the legal investment regime i.e., by permitting proportionally greater investment in companies that meet certain objective corporate governance and disclosure requirements.
- 41. Institutional investors who act as fiduciaries should articulate their approach to the corporate governance of investees and their policies voting shares held in such companies and disclose these on a regular basis to the public and their beneficiaries.
- 42. Institutional investors should provide as much detail as possible in the disclosure to their beneficiaries and the public regarding their standards for corporate governance of portfolio companies and

their general policy concerning the execution of key rights, such as pre-emptive and tag-along rights. The disclosure on voting practices should set out the institutional investor's assessment of the costs and benefits of actively participating in corporate governance as a shareholder, and, for example, identify on what specific types of General Meeting agenda items it would ordinarily exercise its vote. Institutional investors should also disclose the process and procedures that they have in place to make decisions on how to exercise their voting rights, including their reliance on proxy advisory services and co-operation with other institutional investors to nominate board members. The purpose of this information should be to provide beneficiaries with an adequate basis upon which to make an informed judgment about whether the institutional investor is taking into account the risks of poor corporate governance in portfolio companies, and whether the institutional investor takes the opportunity to reduce risk and maximise return for beneficiaries by actively participating in governance as a shareholder.

#### II. The Equitable Treatment of Shareholders

### Fair treatment in changes of control:

- 43. The legal framework, supplemented where appropriate by the charter documents of the company, should provide, clearly and ex ante, how minority shareholders are to be treated when there is a change in corporate control.
- 44. Improved predictability with respect to shareholder treatment during changes in corporate control will allow investors to make better informed investment decisions, increases the ability of markets to properly price traded shares, and should result in less overall volatility stemming from uncertainty and disappointment. Companies with minority shareholders should ensure the highest possible degree of transparency with respect to the economic and non-economic terms of any transaction that results in a change in control over the company. Details of all material contractual arrangements in connection with the sale of a controlling block of shares should be communicated to minority shareholders, including all fee arrangements (including with third parties) and non-financial arrangements, such as non-compete clauses and supply contracts among the buyer, the selling controller and officers and directors of the company.
- 45. Similarly, any tender offer regime should provide for full disclosure by all parties (including buyers, controllers, managers and corporate directors), director accountability, a single price and reasonable time for shareholders to decide whether to tender. Each member of the board should carefully consider the fairness of any offer, and formally communicate such director's opinion to shareholders. Recent legal reforms in the region indicate a clear consensus that mechanisms requiring partial or complete mandatory tender offers (including "tag along" rights) in the case of changes of corporate control facilitate equitable treatment and promote confidence and sound capital market development. Where existing law provides for different options, the charter documents of the company should remove any ambiguities.
- 46. The legal framework should provide a clear definition of those events that fundamentally transform the nature for the company, or that are so potentially prejudicial to minority shareholders that they trigger the right of minority shareholders to withdraw from the company.
- 47. The company laws of the region generally recognise that there are certain types of events, such as a transformation of the business purpose of the company, or a restructuring of its capital stock, that so fundamentally affect the relationship between the company and its shareholders that fairness requires that dissenting shareholders be permitted to withdraw from the company. National laws should be as explicit as possible about what types of corporate actions trigger withdrawal rights and provide as detailed a definition of these events as practicable. Where national law is unclear, or where leeway is provided under the company law, company charters should fill in the needed gaps.

- 48. The legal framework should provide a fair, practical and predictable system for valuing the shares of minority investors in cases of de-listings or exercise of withdrawal rights, which comes as close as possible to providing minority shareholders with their pro rata interest in the economic value of the company.
- 49. Legislation, exchange rules and company charter documents have in practice failed to ensure equitable treatment of shareholders in cases of "squeeze-outs," de-listings, and exercise by shareholders of statutory withdrawal rights. In such cases, the objective of policy should be to permit shareholders to secure the *pro rata* economic value inherent in their shares. While no method is perfect, those that rely on independent appraisal are superior to those that rely on historical capital, or easily manipulated market prices of illiquid securities. In the event of a "squeeze out", a decision to de-list or an event that triggers statutory withdrawal rights, each member of the board should carefully consider the fairness of any such transaction to withdrawing shareholders, and formally communicate on the record their opinion to shareholders. Directors who are shareholders should disclose what actions they will take with respect to their own shares when more than one course of action is available.

#### III. The Role of Stakeholders in Corporate Governance

- 50. The board of directors should ensure that reliable reporting structures are in place to provide familiarity and compliance among corporate officials with legislation related to the rights of employees and other stakeholders.
- 51. It is important that certain rights that are granted to employees and other stakeholders in relation to the corporation, or in the governance process of the corporation, be recognised and respected, and that compliance be enforceable. Seeing that the rights of such stakeholders are respected in practice is a responsibility of company management, while the board of directors is responsible for vigilantly overseeing management's efforts in this respect. This requires, among other things, that effective internal structures are in place to inform corporate officials about these rights and to hold them accountable whenever these rights are not respected. It should be the responsibility of the board to make sure that such information and reporting structures for compliance are established.
- 52. Companies should consider on a voluntary basis to prepare and issue periodic reports on stakeholder relations.
- 53. Corporate competitiveness is the result of teamwork with contributions from various resource providers, including employees. Shareholders may therefore have an interest in understanding how companies, beyond legal requirements, seek to develop such relationships in order to promote the future prospects of the corporation. Relationships with stakeholders other than employees, including local communities, are of importance. It is essential that such relationships are entertained with full integrity and pursued in a transparent way that makes the nature of commitments as predictable as possible. To the extent that national and international standards for disclosure of stakeholder relations gain acceptance, companies should employ them in their annual or other periodic reports. One example of such a benchmark is the Global Reporting Initiative.
- 54. The board and management should encourage and facilitate the reporting of illegal or unethical behaviour.
- 55. Illegal and unethical practices by corporate officers may not only violate the rights of stakeholders, but also be to the detriment of the company and the shareholders in terms of reputation effects and an increasing risk of future financial liabilities. Internal reporting structures and policies should therefore ensure that individual corporate officers do not use their position, for example as employers, to

stifle stakeholder complaints by threats or illicit compensations. Companies are also encouraged to establish procedures and protections for employees and other "whistle-blowers" who make complaints concerning illegal and unethical behaviour. For example, some companies have established an ombudsman to deal with stakeholder complaints. Regulators may wish to establish confidential phone and e-mail facilities to deal with complaints. Procedures and protection for employee complaints can usefully be supported by a company code of ethics that in no uncertain terms formulates the basic values to which employees at all levels should adhere in their professional capacity.

#### IV. Disclosure and Transparency

# The Quality and Integrity of Financial Reporting

- 56. The legal and regulatory framework concerning the financial reporting process should be assessed with a special view to potential conflicts of interest of those involved, including external auditors.
- 57. The annual report is the most important and comprehensive public information about the company. Efficient capital markets therefore require that the information is prepared, verified and disseminated in a correct and timely fashion. In this process it is important that the division of responsibilities among various company organs and external service providers is well defined and that their judgement and actions are not compromised by conflicts of interest.
- 58. Standard setters for publicly traded companies should with all deliberate speed bring national accounting standards into full compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
- 59. Investors in publicly traded companies are entitled to financial information that is accurate, complete, comprehensible and comparable across companies. Increasingly, this means that investors, both domestic and international, need financial statements to be prepared in accordance with recognised standards that invite, rather than prevent, comparisons among companies in the same industries without regard to where they are located. Even where national accounting standards differ materially from IFRS, publicly traded companies should, on a voluntary basis or in compliance with listing rules, provide investors with statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
- 60. Financial reports should be audited by an independent, competent and qualified external auditor in accordance with high international standards.
- A critical step in the disclosure process is the external audit. Efficient markets and investor confidence require that the external audit is carried out in a professional manner that is free from any conflicts of interest that may compromise the judgement of the auditor and the quality of the audit. The legal and regulatory framework should strive to ensure auditor independence by including clear rules concerning rotation of audit firms and/or audit partners, disclosure of non-audit fees, and by prohibiting audit firms from providing certain services that clearly compromise their ability to carry out an objective audit. The external auditor should be contracted for a limited and specified period. In countries where rotation of audit firms or audit partners is not already required, their renewal should be considered only after satisfactory evaluation of independence and performance. In the case of permitted non-audit services, the board of directors or the Audit Committee should be responsible for deciding that provision of such services by the external auditor will not compromise the quality or objectivity of the audit. For this reason, it is recommended that the company, for example, fully disclose all non-auditing services provided by the company's independent external auditors to the company and its related parties. Shareholders are also entitled to know what portion of the auditor's fees is represented by both audit and non-audit services to

the company and affiliates. The ambition to improve auditor independence and accountability to shareholders is further reflected in the International Organisation of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) standard "Principles of Auditor Independence and the Role of Corporate Governance in Monitoring and Auditor's Independence".

- 62. It is also important that the development and implementation of audit standards is overseen by an effective body that acts in the interest of the public and is independent from the audit and accounting profession. In this respect, the IOSCO "Principles on Auditor Oversight" can serve as a useful guide on the required mechanisms for effective oversight.
- 63. Finally, it is important that the audit profession in Latin America meets the highest professional standards. Auditing firms that operate on a global scale and provide services to Latin American companies should therefore ensure that their practices in Latin America meet the quality standards that are applied in other, and more developed, capital markets.
- 64. The company should disclose to shareholders all business relationships, and material provisions of contracts, with conduits of corporate information, such as rating agencies, investment banks and analysts.
- 65. Companies, shareholders and others with an interest in the company rely on outside professional service providers for critical functions. Shareholders are entitled to have a transparent and reasonable basis upon which to assess the quality and objectivity of the advice received from such professionals. This can be accomplished only if the business relationships and material contract provisions with such professionals are disclosed to shareholders in a timely and complete manner.

# **Disclosure of Ownership and Control:**

- 66. The legal framework should allow for effective means to obtain information about beneficial ownership and control.
- 67. Accurate information about ultimate ownership is essential for identifying potential conflicts of interest, related party transactions and insider trading -- transactions that may be to the detriment of minority shareholders. The authority and obligations of oversight bodies, custodians, financial intermediaries, other service providers and corporations regarding ultimate ownership and control of the company should be specified and enforced. Efforts should be made to improve co-operation among such bodies in order to identify significant beneficial owners so that regulations that depend on such information, for example those concerning related party transactions, can be enforced. A useful reference in this work is the OECD template "Options for Obtaining Beneficial Ownership and Control Information". In a practical way, the template describes the suitability and effectiveness of three non-mutually exclusive options: 1) Up-front disclosure; 2) Imposing an obligation on service providers to maintain beneficial ownership and control information; and 3) Reliance on an investigative system. The template is structured as a tool for self-assessment regarding the suitability and effectiveness of these three options.
- 68. Laws and regulations should make it clear that it is the responsibility of every listed company to disclose its ownership structure and that shareholders holding a specified portion of capital and votes respectively should disclose their holdings and report any changes in its ownership to the company, the stock exchange and the public at large.
- 69. Transparency of a company's ownership and control structure is necessary if present and potential shareholders are to assess their ability to influence the decision making process. Current and

prospective shareholders should fully understand the identity of those with *de facto* control of the company and be able to identify what others have an economic interest in the company. In order for shareholders to vote their shares and exercise other ownership and economic rights in an informed and timely fashion, they should have immediate and costless access to shareholder lists.

- 70. The legal framework and stock exchange rules should provide for full disclosure of shareholder agreements that could conceivably have an impact on how the company is governed or how other shareholders may be treated. Such agreements include understandings with respect to the exercise of voting rights, puts and calls, rights of first refusal, voting of treasury shares and powers of certain shareholders to nominate corporate officers.
- 71. Shareholders are entitled to fully understand the mechanisms through which control over the company's operations is exercised. In many cases, agreements among controlling shareholders determine the ultimate power relationships in the firm and what divergences of interest may exist between controllers and other shareholders. Prospectuses and annual reports should be required to include a full statement of all material aspects of any existing shareholder agreements, and such agreements should be recorded in the shareholder registry and made available to shareholders at minimum cost. The legal framework should provide that shareholder agreements not disclosed in accordance with legal requirements and in the shareholder registry are unenforceable. Non-disclosure of shareholder agreements should also be subject to the same sorts of administrative and judicial sanctions as other failures to disclose material information to investors but it should be the parties to the agreements, and not the company itself, that pays the penalty.
- 72. In carrying out their duties, members of the board of directors should be free to exercise their best judgement in the interests of the company and all shareholders. Accordingly, shareholder agreements should not in any way constrain the ability of individual board members to act. Provisions of shareholder agreements that purport to give the power to individual shareholders to instruct board members on how they should vote in the board should be null and void under national law. National laws that authorise shareholders to instruct the board members they appoint on how they should exercise their duties on the board should be repealed.

#### **Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions:**

- 73. The legal framework should require the company and controlling shareholders to identify all parties with whom controlling owners have a material business relationship relevant to the company, and to fully disclose all material related-party transactions.
- 74. The legal framework should require full disclosure on a periodic basis of director affiliation and interests and total remuneration. Publication of such information should be included in the periodic reports of the company made available to shareholders.
- 75. Companies should articulate and fully disclose their policies with respect to transactions that might raise concerns for minority shareholders because of potential conflicts of interest of controlling owners, directors and managers.
- 76. Certain types of corporate activities involving potential conflicts of interest on the part of controllers and company management including transactions with affiliated parties, lending to insiders, management contracts with controllers or affiliates and co-investment by the company in other ventures of the controlling shareholder have come under special scrutiny by minority shareholders in Latin America. In response, companies in the region have begun to adopt special procedures for review of such transactions to ensure that they are conducted in the best interests of the company. These procedures may

involve review by special committees of the board composed of independent directors, securing opinions of independent outside experts, and in some cases a requirement of minority shareholder approval.

- All companies should identify activities that present particular potential for conflicts of interest and clearly articulate their policies for how to ensure such conflicts do not result in transactions on terms unfavourable to the company. These policies should be fully disclosed to shareholders and the public. Certain types of transactions permitted under national law (e.g., lending by non-financial companies to insiders, controllers and their affiliates) may present so great a potential for real or perceived conflicts of interest, that the wisest company policy may be simply to prohibit them. In the case of permitted transactions, a useful approach may be to place the burden of proof on the company and the conflicted party to demonstrate that the terms of such transactions are in the interests of the company and all shareholders.
- 78. In the case of family-controlled public companies, company policies regarding the interaction of the company and the family (such as family-member employment in the company and family shareholding blocs) should be clearly explained and disclosed.
- 79. Controlling shareholders, directors, managers and other company insiders should be required to make full reporting of all their transactions in securities of the company and affiliates.
- 80. Disclosure of trading plans by insiders is useful to both the market and to insiders themselves, as they retain some trading freedom without the fear of unfounded accusations of trading on the basis of undisclosed information. Penalties for failure to make timely disclosure should be sufficient to deter non-compliance.
- 81. To encourage public confidence in the integrity of the markets, all jurisdictions should enforce "short swing profit" rules that require insiders to return to the company the profits earned through the purchase and sale of shares within suspiciously short periods.
- 82. Active trading by company insiders always raises the concern that it may be motivated by privileged private access to corporate information. When purchases and sales are made within a very short period by the same insider, the best course for encouraging confidence among investors is to prohibit such transactions and if they occur, to require any resultant profits to be returned to the company.

#### **Temporarily Withheld or Reserved Information:**

- 83. In jurisdictions that permit the board to temporarily withhold material information from the public, there should be strict limits on the nature of such "reserved" information, and the amount of time such information can remain non-public. The burden should always be on the company's board and management to demonstrate why continued non-disclosure is lawful and appropriate.
- 84. Good governance and responsibility of management and the board to shareholders is predicated on full transparency and disclosure. Although there are times when information in the possession of the board of directors needs to be kept confidential in the best interests of the company, as in cases of ongoing negotiation, this practice should be restricted in terms of the nature of the information and the time period during which disclosure can be withheld. The board of directors should in every case make an explicit finding of why such information should be temporarily withheld. The securities regulator should review the board finding and insist on short periods for withholding information, and reject board decisions where they fail to meet the legal standard.

#### **Corporate Governance Policies:**

- 85. All listed companies should provide, at least on an annual basis, an updated report on internal corporate governance structures and practices. Such reports should be the responsibility of the board of directors, and where one exists, the governance committee of the board.
- 86. Companies should report on the content of their existing policies, any changes made since the last disclosure, why such changes were made, the procedures for ensuring compliance, and an assessment of the company's compliance. Regulators and exchanges should require such disclosure, and where recognised standards exist, provide that the company describe the justification for any divergence from the practices recommended in such standards.

# V. The Responsibilities of the Board

#### **Board Integrity and Director Independence:**

- 87. The legal framework as well as generally accepted practices should clearly reflect that all directors, individually and collectively, should act in the interest of the company and all of its shareholders. Although the votes of individual shareholders or groups of shareholders may place a director on the board, this does not imply that such shareholders may control such director's behaviour as a board member.
- 88. In carrying out its duties, the board should not act, or be seen to act, as an assembly of representatives for various constituencies. While individual board members may indeed be nominated or elected by a single shareholder or a group of like-minded shareholders voting together, it should be very clear that once they assume their responsibilities as board members, all directors are subject to the same duties as prescribed in company law, the company charter and other relevant documents. It is an important feature of the board's work that the duties of each board member, no matter how selected, are carried out in an even-handed fashion with respect to the interests of the company and all shareholders.
- 89. Charters of many companies provide for minority shareholders and others to nominate directors to the board. Indeed, this White Paper and many model codes recommend that mechanisms be adopted to ensure that minority shareholders have an opportunity to contribute to company governance by nominating directors. This should not be interpreted as an endorsement of "constituent" directors, but rather as a means of achieving the kind of diversity of experiences and outlook on the board that is desirable.
- 90. Charters and other relevant documents that permit shareholders to interfere with the exercise by directors of their duty to act in the best interests of the company and all shareholders in areas that are within the competence of the board should be avoided. Shareholders express their will and protect their interests through the exercise of their contractual and statutory rights, including participation in shareholders meetings, not by instructing directors on how to vote in the boardroom. The legal framework and company charters should not permit practices (such as "pre-meetings" and instructions on how to vote by shareholders whose votes placed a director on the board) wherein shareholders may limit the ability of directors to exercise their duties to act in the best interest of the company and all shareholders.
- 91. In the case of companies controlled by a single shareholder or group of shareholders acting in concert, the board has a responsibility to ensure that the special role of the controlling owner is understood by other investors and to ensure that the relationship between the company and the controlling owner is conducted in a fair and transparent fashion.

92. In practice, controlling owners may indeed contribute valuable input, contacts and networks that benefit the board's work and corporate operations. When this is the case, it is nevertheless crucial that these relationships are well understood and communicated and that the compensation to be provided to controllers in exchange for such contributions is fixed when the contribution is made and not determined by the controllers later on at their own discretion.

# 93. Greater specificity is required in the legal frameworks of the region with respect to the procedural steps directors should take to fulfil their duties of care and loyalty to the company.

94. The legal frameworks of the region are reasonably clear that directors owe the company (and by extension its shareholders) a duty of loyalty and a duty of care. However, there remain gaps in the legal framework with respect to the specific responsibilities of directors in cases of extraordinary corporate events that require shareholder approval, such as changes of control, mergers, restructurings, substantial new investments, sales of critical assets, and related party transactions. Given the dearth of experience and precision in interpreting the duty of loyalty and care by courts in the countries in the region, lawmakers and regulators should favour "bright line" rules, which provide that certain specified events trigger well-defined procedural steps that directors are required to take. One of the key issues that such "bright line" rules should be designed to address is the information disequilibrium between controller, directors and managers on the one hand, and minority shareholders on the other. In such cases, the law, listing requirements-, and company by-laws should at a minimum require all directors to individually disclose any interests in the transaction under consideration, and to provide a signed written opinion to shareholders with their recommendations.

# 95. To promote the integrity of the board, shareholders should endeavour to have a sufficient number of directors that are independent from management and controlling shareholders.

- 96. Company management should see the board as a valuable resource. This requires that directors are willing and able to reach independent judgements and provide objective direction to the CEO and senior management. Importantly, independent directors can play a key role in some of the board's most critical functions, such as reviewing related-party transactions and overseeing the audit and internal controls. Relationships between directors and controllers do not automatically compromise directors' ability to exercise judgement independently of management, but it is generally in the interest of the company and all its shareholders if the board also includes directors that are neither executive managers of the company nor directly linked with controlling shareholders.
- 97. While progress has been made in the last few years, there is still much room for improvement in the practices of appointing directors who can contribute independent judgement. Since the objective criteria for "independence" may vary among countries and companies, depending on the patterns of control and affiliations with other companies, the definition of independence for an individual company can usefully be defined with reference to national codes, regulations or best-practice guidelines that reflect national circumstances. Regardless of how a company defines "independence", the shareholders need to be actively involved in the process of developing such criteria for independence.
- 98. A basic criterion in all cases is that corporate executives can not serve as independent directors. Several countries in Latin America already require the separation of CEO and Chairman of the board of directors, something that should be regarded as "best practice" also in Latin American jurisdictions where such a mandatory requirement does not exist.
- 99. In order to further strengthen the capacity and contributions by independent directors, the company may consider the possibility for independent directors to meet among themselves on a regular basis (i.e., apart from management and directors associated with controllers). They should also be able to

count on adequate financial and professional resources to carry out their functions in an informed and professional manner.

# 100. Board practices and structures should reinforce the ability of individual board members and the board as a whole to act independently of management and controlling shareholders.

- 101. Improved board practices and structures, including standing committees, can increase the effectiveness and credibility of the board. Such improvements are particularly important when there is a widespread belief that directors affiliated with controlling shareholders, management or other interested parties will be biased in decisions that involve the interests of such parties. Every company should have a very clear policy setting out how its board will consider and decide matters which involve potential conflicts of interest. Such policies should be drafted taking into account the particular circumstances of the company's business, its ownership and management, and the composition of its board. Board policies should require directors with an affiliation with a party interested in a transaction under consideration to remove themselves from board discussions and voting. Where the nature of the company's business is such that such transactions are commonplace, the best solution may be to establish a standing "conflicts committee" of the board with clear terms of reference and composed of directors that are not affiliated with the involved parties.
- 102. Regulators and stock exchanges should take steps to accelerate the process of establishing committees of the board with at least a majority of independent directors to serve functions that may involve inherent conflicts of interest. Examples include the oversight of audits, remuneration and review of related party transactions.
- 103. World-wide, practices are clearly moving in the direction of a greater role for special purpose committees of the board of directors, particularly in the areas of audit and compensation. The content of national codes of best practice, and corporate governance policies adopted by important Latin American companies also reflect a growing consensus that special purpose committees can be an effective means of ensuring that the board does in fact carry out key functions, and of reassuring investors. Nevertheless, a majority of listed Latin American companies need to do more in order to develop effective committee practices.
- 104. In order to ensure clear lines of responsibility and accountability to the full board and, ultimately, to the company and its shareholders, only members of the board should be members of board committees. Members of board committees with responsibility for oversight of critical management functions and conflicts of interest should meet among themselves on a regularly-scheduled basis. Independent members of the audit committee should meet periodically with the company's external auditors without the presence of management. However, in the ordinary practice of meetings, key management figures, such as the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and those in charge of internal controls, can be expected to attend meetings of the audit committee.

# 105. When special purpose committees are established, their remit, composition, working procedures and principal activities should be formally documented and disclosed.

106. While the use of special purpose board committees has spread around the globe in recent years, there is still a fair amount of confusion in many jurisdictions concerning their legal status, responsibilities, composition, etc. In order for these committees to actually improve the functioning of the board and assure investors that they serve a meaningful purpose, their role, mandate, status and composition should be clarified and communicated to the market, including issuance of periodic reports to shareholders on their principal activities.

- 107. Policy-makers and regulators should review the experience with internal bodies of vigilance and revise the legal framework to reflect a realistic assessment of their future utility.
- 108. Traditional internal bodies of corporate vigilance (e.g., conselhos fiscais, revisores fiscales, sindicos, comisarios) may sometimes play a complementary role to the board in protecting the interests of particularly vulnerable minorities, such as holders of non-voting and limited voting shares. In such instances, policy makers and regulators should work to reinforce their effectiveness by providing them adequate authority within the company to exercise their duties in an effective manner. Companies need to provide such bodies with the resources required to fulfil their roles, and should communicate to shareholders both the remit of such bodies, and the activities they undertake for the protection of the company and its shareholders.
- 109. However, practitioners and legislators need to be realistic about the functions, responsibilities, and practical capacity of conselhos fiscais, revisores fiscales, sindicos and comisarios. In many cases, board committees are likely to prove superior in protecting the rights of shareholders and ensuring long-term effective company management. In any case, the traditional internal bodies of corporate vigilance cannot be <u>substitutes</u> for, and may sometimes duplicate, the work of a well-functioning audit committee of the board of directors in overseeing the adequacy of the company's internal control systems and the integrity of its independent external audit. Because they are composed of directors with a direct relationship to the other members of the board and management, board committees can count on the resources of the board, and as directors involved in developing strategy and overseeing the business of the company, members of the audit or other special committee have greater access to management and information.
- 110. Policy-makers and companies should carefully consider whether the benefits of permitting "alternate" or "supplementary" directors justify the potential risks to board effectiveness. Where a case can in fact be made for permitting such a class of directors, the legal framework and where necessary, company charters, should make clear what are the roles and responsibilities of directors that serve as "alternate" or "supplementary" directors, and what are the implications for "full" or "principal" directors. The existence of "alternate" or "supplementary" directors should never be allowed to dilute the incentives for all directors to diligently carry out their duties in the best interests of the company and shareholders.
- 111. Many, if not most, jurisdictions in the region permit a company's board of directors to include both principal and alternate directors (or "suplentes"). Such directors generally are entitled to attend board meetings, but can only legally exercise their vote in the event of the absence of a principal director (often the principal director with whom that alternate was paired when selected by the AGM). In some cases, the distinction between principal and alternate directors is ignored in practice, with all directors equally involved in board activities and most if not all decisions taken by consensus. However, in other circumstances, the existence of alternates may reduce the intensity of involvement of principal directors, including their attendance at board meetings, at the same time as it sends a signal to alternates that they are little more than observers. The upshot can be less than sufficient involvement by both sets of directors. When such is the case, the legal framework or company charter should abolish the practice of alternative directors. In every case, shareholders and directors should clearly understand what is expected from alternate directors in terms of participation in the activities of the board, and their legal responsibilities visavis the company and shareholders.

#### **Developing a Culture of Effective Boards:**

- 112. All companies, whether listed or privately held, should develop and make available to shareholders a written set of policies that defines the role and working procedures for the board and its directors.
- 113. An effective board of directors adds value to company operations across a number of dimensions. In order to achieve greater board effectiveness and provide shareholders with greater clarity as to how the board intends to carry out its responsibilities, it is important that the board members themselves actively engage in the formulation of their tasks and work procedures. One useful way of doing this is to develop a written document that can serve as guidance as well as a tool for evaluation. This document should be available to all shareholders. Relevant portions should be included in the annual report, which should also record the board's activities, the competencies of individual board members and their participation in board meetings.
- 114. The board should ensure compliance with applicable law and seek to ensure that an ethical culture pervades the operation of the company.
- 115. It is in the long term interests of a company not only to comply with the law but also to establish an ethical culture to govern its dealings on a day-to-day basis with its clients and its stakeholders. These goals might be furthered by the board developing, on a voluntary basis, ethical standards for the enterprise. Such standards could include as a reference elements of widely recognised instruments such as the *UN Global Compact* and the *OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises*. As noted in the section on stakeholders, boards should also be encouraged to develop procedures and safeguards to protect "whistle-blowers," who report unethical or illegal activities within the company. Such reporting can be facilitated by providing such persons with confidential access to someone on the board, often a member of an audit committee or an ethics committee.
- 116. Company charters and other relevant documents should set out director mandates, board sizes, board meeting schedules, director qualification criteria and board and director evaluation measures that increase the likelihood that boards and directors will have the capacity and willingness to carry out their duties.
- 117. In order for a board of directors to function effectively, the members of the board should have a mix of professional and personal characteristics and they should meet an adequate number of times per year to review the company's operations, exchange views and make informed decisions. The optimal board size, meeting schedule and director qualification criteria will vary depending on the nature of an individual company's business, and can be expected to change over time as the company matures. However, experience has shown that boards that exceed 10-12 members may function less well. Companies and their boards have an obligation to carefully consider their policies in respect of the terms of office of directors, the size of the board and the qualifications required of board members. They should make these policies explicit and review and revise them periodically.
- 118. In addition, the boards of listed companies should undergo annual internal evaluations covering both the competencies and performance of their members as well as the board's functioning as a whole. The procedures for such evaluations may be left to the individual company but the company's statement on board responsibilities and work procedures as well as national codes of best practice can serve as benchmarks in the board evaluation process. Relevant parts of this evaluation can also be made available to the public.

119. Open-ended or excessively long mandates for board appointments are inconsistent with the objective of ensuring that the board's membership includes the right mix of professional skills and personal characteristics. Likewise, the value of board and director evaluation is diminished if directors have lengthy terms of office. Accordingly, shorter terms for directors (one or two-year terms subject to re-election) are preferable.

# 120. Those who nominate and elect directors should ensure that nominees have adequate available time to devote to their responsibilities.

121. Individuals who exhibit the right professional qualifications may nonetheless be unsuitable for board service because their other obligations deprive them of sufficient time for their duties as directors. The legal/regulatory framework and company practice should at a minimum require that the pre-existing professional commitments of director nominees be disclosed to shareholders. Nominees should be required to update companies on whose boards they sit, and shareholders, of all significant time commitments they assume after election.

# 122. Companies should provide adequate information, and financial and other resources to their boards of directors to permit them to effectively perform their oversight role.

123. Timely, high-quality agendas and information from management are prerequisites for effective board performance. In addition, boards of directors and board committees occasionally require the services of independent outside legal, accounting and other expertise in order to effectively perform their oversight role. Boards therefore should be provided with the means to access a reasonable amount of the company's budget to contract outside such expertise, when a majority of its members determines it necessary. The budget provided the board for contracting such services, and its policies for when such services will be secured, should be fully disclosed.

### **Remuneration of Directors:**

- 124. Directors should receive remuneration that: (1) adequately reflects the time, effort and experience they bring to the task; (2) provides reasonable incentives for performance that align the interests of directors with those of shareholders; and (3) does not compromise the ability of the directors to exercise independent judgement in the sole interest of the company and its shareholders.
- 125. Appropriate remuneration of directors is a key element of developing a culture of director professionalism. Lack of explicit remuneration, or token payment, discourages directors from devoting adequate time to their duties and may encourage them to extract compensation for their services in less transparent ways. Likewise, disguising special payments to insiders and others as directors' fees diminishes the credibility of the board as an independent and effective body acting in the best interests of the company and all shareholders.
- 126. Remuneration packages for directors may combine fixed payments with incentive arrangements designed to align the interest of directors with shareholders. However the optimal mix of fixed and incentive remuneration for different countries and companies will depend on a variety of factors including: available talent pool; legal framework; share liquidity; company prospects; market volatility; and macroeconomic conditions. Where directors in a listed company are compensated in part in shares, such shares should be of the same class as those that are publicly traded, to ensure alignment of interest between the directors and the public shareholders.
- 127. The company's procedures for proposing and approving the remuneration packages of directors should be transparent to shareholders.

128. Shareholders are entitled to understand the factors that determine the ultimate composition and value of the remuneration of directors. Accordingly, boards should endeavour to make the process of setting director remuneration as open, transparent, professional and objective as possible. One useful way to accomplish this is through a standing committee of the board charged with periodically evaluating the company's director remuneration policies. Listed companies should make their director remuneration policies available to the public, and include in their annual reports the criteria upon which directors fees are set.

#### **Improving Skills; Director Education:**

- 129. Directors should be encouraged to undertake initial and continuous training that will improve their ability to carry out their board functions in a professional manner.
- 130. Representatives of the corporate sector, in association with other interested parties, such as securities exchanges, investor groups, etc., should encourage and participate in the design and dissemination of training programmes to promote director professionalism and capacity. Such programmes, provided by institutes of directors, business associations, academic institutions and others, can contribute to the development of a culture of director professionalism.
- 131. Quality director education programmes, whether delivered by institutes of directors, business associations, business schools or other professional educators play a key capacity-building role by increasing the pool of qualified, independent directors to serve on the boards of Latin American companies. Latin America is at a stage of reconsideration and re-conception of the role of the board of directors. More active participation in director education by experienced company directors and senior managers can help to steer the discussion in more thoughtful and practical directions and accelerate the adoption of best practices by companies.

#### **Boards in Small and Medium-Sized Firms:**

- 132. Chambers of commerce, other private sector groupings, banks and lenders, and, where appropriate, public authorities, should encourage the development of a culture of good governance and transparency among non-listed firms.
- 133. Non-listed companies (typically founder- and family-owned) have long played an important part in the development of industry in Latin America. In the next decades the challenge for such firms will be to modernise their financing, corporate governance and management practices to keep pace with their sometimes more agile global competitors. The future viability of the public securities markets in the region will depend on how well today's medium-sized firms prepare themselves to meet the expectations of investors with increasingly global access to investment opportunities. To advance this goal, the boards of such firms should develop a statement on the role of the board and evaluation of its effectiveness.

#### VI. Improving Compliance and Effective Enforcement

### **Effectiveness of Regulatory and Supervisory Enforcement:**

134. In order to promote clarity and facilitate compliance, legislators and regulators should identify and remove any inconsistencies and contradictions in rules and laws affecting corporate governance.

# Efforts should also be made to achieve the most effective apportionment of powers and efforts among the courts, the supervisory authorities and private enforcement mechanisms.

135. As business practices and financial markets evolve, there is always a risk that existing rules and regulations overlap or prove inconsistent with more recent provisions. It may also be the case that laws and regulations in related or more remote areas may have an impact on the interpretation and effective enforcement of governance-related rules. Such overlaps may create uncertainty and inflict unnecessary costs for companies, investors and enforcement agencies. When introducing new laws and regulation, or revising existing provisions, it is therefore indispensable to devote the necessary time and resources to analyse the regulatory impact and possible unintended consequences. Effective enforcement also requires that the allocation of responsibilities for supervision, implementation and enforcement among different authorities is clearly defined so that the competencies of complementary bodies and agencies are respected and used most effectively.

# 136. The greatest possible degree of political and financial independence should be accorded to those regulatory and supervisory agencies that are responsible for rule-making and enforcement in the area of corporate governance.

137. It is the consensus of the Roundtable participants that regulatory and supervisory agencies, notably the national securities commissions, should continue to play an increasingly important role in the formulation, implementation and enforcement of corporate governance rules and regulations. The effectiveness of a regulatory or supervisory agency depends importantly on the public's perception of its ability to promulgate and enforce rules with objectivity and professionalism. Accordingly, such agencies should be insulated from undue political interference by ensuring them the greatest possible autonomy in carrying out their mandate. This will typically imply that political authorities do not indirectly influence the direction of their work through the budgetary process. Mechanisms that promote the budgetary stability and autonomy of agencies with rule-making and enforcement powers in the area of corporate governance should be established. This may include multi-year funding related to their present and predicted caseload as well as the introduction of user fees. Along the same lines, it may also include appointment of agency heads to fixed terms during which they may not be removed except for malfeasance.

# 138. As an immediate step, the resources and capacity of the regulatory and supervisory agencies should be made a public policy priority.

139. Credible administrative enforcement requires supervisory agencies to have sufficient resources to conduct timely, quality investigations. The volume of corporate governance-related cases that regulators and supervisors have been called upon to examine has increased dramatically in recent years and this ballooning of caseloads is expected to continue. However, the resources of such agencies have not grown commensurately. Unless the widening gap between caseloads and supervisory agency resources is narrowed, the credibility of the latter will diminish, and along with it, public confidence in the corporate governance system.

# 140. Consistent with the country's constitutional framework, the legal and regulatory regime should provide the regulatory and supervisory agencies with maximum powers to investigate and resolve cases in a fashion that fosters public confidence in enforcement and deters rule-breaking.

141. The legislation establishing the supervisory agencies charged with enforcement of corporate governance rules typically does not accord them as broad a set of investigative and enforcement powers as is permissible under the country's constitutional framework. To provide them with greater powers to collect and compel evidence in a timely fashion, including subpoena powers that do not involve lengthy recourse to the courts, is critical to the credibility of administrative decisions and their enforcement. Similarly,

regulatory and supervisory agencies should be empowered to bring civil actions on their own initiative for the benefit of shareholders, without prejudice to such shareholders' own actions.

- 142. Agencies charged with enforcement need to have the authority to take meaningful action both to prevent the most blatant of corporate governance abuses, and to settle cases whenever they are amenable to resolution through administrative means. Granting the supervisor the power to issue temporary injunctions in defined instances (such as in cases of challenges to the legality of actions taken during General Meeting procedures and otherwise where irreparable harm might ensue) enhances the credibility of the supervisor and the enforcement process. Likewise, the effectiveness of the supervisor is enhanced when it is empowered to settle cases through arbitration and mutual agreement (consent decrees).
- 143. The regulatory and supervisory agencies should be permitted to appear before the courts in civil cases involving shareholder rights, and submit advisory opinions which the courts should consider in reaching their determinations.
- 144. It is recognised that the judiciary in most or all jurisdictions in the region generally has insufficient familiarity with the evolving legal and regulatory framework for corporate governance. Permitting the regulatory and supervisory agencies to provide courts with their interpretation of the law in this area can facilitate timely and correct resolution of individual cases, and at the same time make the application of the legal and regulatory framework more consistent and predictable.

# 145. The capacity of the judicial system to deal with commercial disputes should be improved.

- 146. An efficient and predictable judicial system is a key prerequisite for achieving credible corporate governance and a well-functioning business sector. This requires sufficient resources, including compensation levels for judges and court personnel necessary to ensure the recruitment and retention of educated and experienced professionals who will perform their duties with the full integrity required of such positions, and with the continuity necessary to maintain a stable and predictable judiciary.
- 147. Training programmes should be enhanced to improve judicial understanding of commercial law, especially with respect to company law, securities law and bankruptcy law. Judges would also benefit from training in basic business and economic concepts that underlie such legislation, since the lack of such knowledge can result in an extremely literal application of legislative language that may be unreasonable in the context of normal business practices.

#### **Private Rights of Action:**

# 148. The legal framework should provide shareholders with as broad an array as possible of actions to protect their rights and obtain redress for violations of their rights.

A number of the recent legal reform efforts in the region have included expansion of the range of rights of action available to shareholders (including collective action through "investor associations"). This reflects a general disappointment with the legal tools currently at their disposal, most of which present severe technical and practical obstacles. Class actions, derivative suits, direct rights of action against *de facto* controllers, and rights to compel mediation and arbitration have all been topics of consideration. It is the consensus of the Roundtable's participants that the current framework for shareholder actions is inadequate in most of the region and that broadening the set of instruments available to shareholders and investor groupings will increase the likelihood that they will be able to achieve redress in the courts. It is also recognised that for such reforms to be successful, they need to be pursued with a close eye to country specific legal traditions.

# Improving the Variety and Capacity of Mechanisms for Adjudicating Disputes:

- 150. The legal framework should contemplate and remove obstacles to effective use of private arbitration and other potentially efficient mechanisms for the settlement of shareholder disputes.
- 151. Shareholders are entitled to adequate and efficient means of redress for violations of their rights. It is recognised that most courts in most countries in the region lack the technical expertise and experience to fairly and efficiently settle shareholder suits. Where qualified judges or specialised courts exist, they are unlikely to have sufficient resources to handle the caseload. Experience in OECD countries and the region indicates that private voluntary arbitration can provide an efficient and effective alternative. However, in order for private arbitration to work, national legal frameworks must provide for judicial recognition of arbitral awards without *de novo* review of the facts. Courts should also have streamlined procedures for enforcement of arbitral awards. However, private arbitration is not a substitute for strong judicial institutions, and arbitrators can encounter the same problems as the judicial system in identifying and interpreting the law. An active and consistent judiciary that contributes to the interpretation of the law through its rulings will also re-enforce the effectiveness and reliability of private dispute resolution mechanisms. Most importantly, the execution of arbitration decisions depends on the effectiveness of the judicial system.
- 152. Stock exchanges and companies should encourage private arbitration of disputes between companies and shareholders by promoting professional shareholder arbitration panels and encouraging companies to include submission to arbitration in their by-laws.
- 153. Dispute resolution procedures such as administrative hearings or independent arbitration procedures are emerging as an important and cost-effective alternative to the use of the courts system. The use of private arbitration mechanisms as an alternative to court litigation can reduce the workload of the judicial system and serve the business community by speeding up the resolution of commercial disputes, such as those involving minority shareholder disputes. If supported on a sustained basis with sufficient resources and a judicial system that ensures that its decisions are enforceable, private arbitration can provide an efficient, fair and predictable environment for resolution of commercial disputes.
- 154. Cross-border co-operation in enforcement should be encouraged through the use of Memoranda of Understanding between and among enforcing agencies.
- 155. Co-operation in securities law enforcement in the region, and between the countries of the region and OECD countries has been greatly facilitated in recent years by the negotiation of Memoranda of Understanding between national securities regulators. These Memoranda of Understanding provide a clear framework and procedures for sharing information and co-ordinating investigation that is tailored to fit within the respective legal frameworks of each country and the mandates and legal authority of their agencies. The coverage of Memoranda of Understanding between securities regulators should be expanded, wherever possible, to include co-operation in the enforcement of laws and regulations relating to corporate governance, and agencies other than securities regulators involved in the enforcement of the corporate governance legal framework should be included as parties to the Memoranda.

#### **VII. Regional Co-operation:**

156. In order to enhance co-operation among countries and international organisations, the Latin American Roundtable should continue to facilitate Latin American access to the international corporate governance dialogue. Following the issuing of this White Paper, its efforts should focus on reviewing progress and supporting dialogue in the areas of policy design, implementation and enforcement.

- 157. In order to maintain and attract investment it has become increasingly important to assure domestic as well as foreign investors that corporate governance reforms are progressing in a consistent and irreversible manner. It is also important that countries are given an opportunity to explain to an international audience specific aspects of their domestic corporate governance system and pursue a dialogue on strengths and potential weaknesses. The Roundtable can help to reinforce reform efforts by reviewing progress and issuing periodic reports on these developments.
- 158. It is also important that the process of policy design, implementation and enforcement is viewed in an international context where an exchange of practical experiences and best practices will serve as important information for national initiatives.
- 159. In addition to the Roundtable participants, multilateral development banks conducting business in the region, national bodies and standard-setters with an interest in corporate governance should work together on a regional basis to implement the conclusions and recommendations reflected in the White Paper. Such efforts should also include representatives of the principal trade and financial partners of the region.
- 160. Parallel with the Roundtables, and with the support of Roundtable sponsors like the Global Corporate Governance Forum, pre-existing and newly-chartered institutes of directors and corporate governance advocates have begun meeting regularly to share expertise, training materials and business strategies with each other and with similar organisations outside of Latin America. This sort of co-operation between private sector initiatives with similar goals encourages the more rapid development of a corporate governance culture and expertise in the region, by permitting national groups to build upon the base of work already done by their counterparts in neighbouring countries. Non-governmental organisations with an interest in corporate governance, including national institutes of directors and corporate governance advocates, but also academic institutions, business groupings and others should continue the collaboration and expand join training programmes and production and publication of specialised materials for directors and governance advocates.

#### **ANNEXES**

<u>Editor's note</u>: The annexes to this White Paper are intended to provide factual background. They are published under the responsibility of their authors, as they have not been discussed or endorsed by the Roundtable's participants. Throughout the Roundtables, numerous papers and reports have been prepared by participants. These are available on the OECD website at <a href="https://www.oecd.org/daf/corporate-affairs/">www.oecd.org/daf/corporate-affairs/</a>.

# ANNEX A: SUMMARY REVIEW OF LATIN AMERICAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE INITIATIVES<sup>1</sup>

- Argentina. The Argentine capital markets reform was decreed into law and became effective in June 2001. The new law covers a broad range of governance issues, with provisions including: mandatory tender offers once 35% of shares have been acquired by a single shareholder or controlling group; procedures to ensure that minority shareholders receive a "fair price" in squeeze-outs and de-listings; majority independent audit committees; establishment of arbitration courts for the resolution of conflicts; and a greater role for shareholders through increased participation in shareholder meetings. In 2002, two existing private sector associations, FUNDECE and IDEA, jointly established the Instituto Argentino para el Gobierno de las Organizaciones (IAGO). IAGO aims to raise awareness of governance issues and provide director training.
- Bolivia. In early 2003, the Bolivian government drafted a bill entitled the "Law on Governance of Stock Companies". The bill is currently in the Bolivian Congress, but many companies have expressed opposition to its content. In 2002, the government enacted a law specifically for the "capitalised" public companies resulting from the privatisation process, which covers various aspects of corporate governance, including supermajority shareholder vote requirements for the sale of assets or realisation of major investments. The banking regulations now include various governance requirements for banks and certain other financial institutions, such as creation of audit committees, participation of directors on credit committees, regulation of activities of internal supervisors and rotation of external auditors. The private sector has not yet made any significant initiatives, although a Centre of Corporate Governance is being established.
- 163. <u>Brazil.</u> In the last few years, Brazil has seen a comprehensive and far-reaching set of corporate governance reforms and other initiatives. In October 2001, the reform of the Corporation Law was finally passed, after overcoming significant opposition in Congress. The reform strengthens minority shareholders rights and improves standards of disclosure, with improved laws on tag-along rights, de-listing, non-voting shares, election of board members by minority shareholders and private arbitration. In conjunction with this, there was also a reform of the CVM Law, giving the CVM (Brazil's securities commission) greater functional and financial independence. Subsequently, during the course of 2002 and 2003, the CVM issued various regulations, which complemented these legal reforms. In July 2002, the CVM published its Recommendations on Corporate Governance.
- 164. In 2001, BOVESPA (the Sao Paulo Stock Exchange) launched three new market segments the Special Corporate Governance Levels 1 and 2 and the Novo Mercado with each market segment requiring progressively stricter standards of corporate governance. In very basic terms: Level 1 requires improved disclosure; Level 2 requires both improved disclosure and strengthened shareholder rights, including submission of disputes to a Market Arbitration Panel; and the Novo Mercado requires improved disclosure, strengthened shareholder rights, submission of disputes to the Market Arbitration Panel and the absence of non-voting shares. Currently there are twenty-eight companies listed on Level 1, three on Level

\_

<sup>1.</sup> This annex does not aim to be comprehensive or exhaustive, but rather is intended to provide an indication of the range of recent corporate governance-related developments in the region.

2 and two on the Novo Mercado. It is anticipated that all future IPOs will likely take place on the Novo Mercado and many private companies are contemplating listing on this market segment. However, the development of the Novo Mercado has unavoidably been held back by the stagnation of the Brazilian capital markets in the two years since the launch of the initiative.

- 165. Established in 1995, the Instituto Brasileiro de Governança Corporativa (IBGC) continues to grow with membership now at approximately 400 members, an increasing array of training and advocacy activities and with new chapters opening in Rio de Janeiro and Porto Alegre, building upon IBGC's activities in Sao Paulo. In April 2001, the IBGC launched its enlarged and revised Code of Best Practices. Several companies and pension funds have now launched their own corporate governance codes. From June 2003, new regulations from BNDES (the Brazilian national development bank) were proposed that would link their lending operations to improved standards of corporate governance, offering better financing terms to companies that meet various objective standards of good governance.
- 166. Chile. Chile was the first country in the region to undertake significant reforms to the legal and regulatory framework for corporate governance. In December 2000, the new Tender Offers and Corporate Governance Law was enacted. Subsequently, the Superintendency of Securities and Insurance (SVS) issued several complementary regulations, stating precisely how the new legislation should be understood and enforced by the SVS itself. The main provisions of the new law relate to: defining the circumstances and procedures for mandatory tender offers; stricter rules prohibiting insider trading; stronger enforcement powers for the SVS; reinforcing the role of institutional investors (particularly pension funds and mutual funds); expanding the possibility for exercising withdrawal rights; the creation of derivative actions as an alternative mechanism to assure enforcement; tighter regulation of related party transactions and conflicts of interest; and the obligation to create committees of directors (whose powers and responsibilities would include those usually associated with audit committees). The Chilean private sector has not yet undertaken any major corporate governance initiatives. However, with the encouragement of the SVS, two leading business schools are planning the establishment of a Chilean Institute of Directors.
- Colombia. In the last few years, Colombia has seen various regulatory and legislative initiatives. In March 2001, Colombia's securities commission, the Superintendencia de Valores ("Supervalores") enacted Resolution 275. Resolution 275 establishes a legal obligation for issuers who intend to be recipients of pension fund investment to disclose their governance practices in some detail. In recent years, a series of draft laws have been introduced to reform the framework of securities regulation. During 2001, the government submitted a draft securities law, but this was subsequently withdrawn from Congress in July 2002 as a result of intense political pressures from, among others, some of Colombia's largest companies. Supervalores is now working on a new draft for the law project. The provisions of this draft legal reform would require the establishment of audit committees, mandate that a third of board members must be independent, require disclosure of related party transactions and require tender offers under certain circumstances.
- 168. Private sector efforts in Colombia have been led by Confecamaras (the Confederation of Chambers of Commerce). The Confecamaras Corporate Governance Project has organised numerous events to raise awareness of governance issues throughout the private sector, inviting companies, investors, the mass media and national and international experts to participate. In August 2003, the Colombian Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies was published. This Code was drafted by a committee that included a broad range of private sector representatives, including the Colombian Stock Exchange, the National Association of Pension Funds, and the Chambers of Commerce of Bogotá and Cartagena. Overall co-ordination of this effort was provided by Confecamaras. In conjunction with the chambers of commerce of each region, Confecamaras has now developed a director training programme.

- 169. Mexico. In April 2001, the Mexican Congress approved reforms to the Securities Markets Law, which went into effect in June 2001. The specific measures encompassed in these reforms include: granting the National Banking and Securities Commission the power to regulate tender offers in order to prevent the exclusion of minority shareholders from the benefits of these transactions; restrictions on the issuance of non-common shares; prohibition of issuance of "stapled shares" (where voting and non-voting shares are sold simultaneously), unless the non-voting shares are convertible into common shares within five years; requirements for independent members on boards of directors, appointment of board members by minority shareholders and the establishment of audit committees; stricter enforcement, with certain violations punishable as criminal offences; and changing the regulatory approach from a merit-based approach to a disclosure regime. A private sector institute for corporate governance, the Instituto Mexicano de Gobernabilidad Corporativa (IMGC) is being established, whose activities will include director training. The Business Coordinating Council (CCE), which sponsored the Mexican Code of Corporate Practices in 2001, also has a corporate governance initiative, which aims to promote awareness of governance issues within the private sector. Compliance with the Code is voluntary, but listed firms are obliged to disclose annually their degree of compliance.
- 170. Peru. In July 2002 the "Principles for Good Governance of Peruvian Corporations" was published. This initiative was co-ordinated by the Comision Nacional Supervisora de Empresas y Valores (CONASEV) and builds upon the *OECD Principles*. The Peruvian Principles were discussed and endorsed by representatives of both the private and public sectors. From the private sector, leadership was provided by the National Association of Private Institutions (CONFIEP) and the Banking Association (ASBANC). From the public sector, CONASEV was joined by the Ministry of Finance, the Banking and Insurance Superintendency and the Lima Stock Exchange. The Asociación de Empresas Promotoras del Mercado de Capitales and the Centro de Estudios de Mercado de Capitales also supported the initiative. In July 2003, the Peruvian Committee on Corporate Governance was established, incorporating the Asociación de Directores Corporativos (ASDIC), experts and leading business schools in Peru.
- 171. <u>Venezuela.</u> In Venezuela the recent awareness-raising efforts have been led by the Asociación Venezolana de Ejecutivos (AVE), with support from various other associations and organisations, including the Centro de Divulgación del Conocimiento Económico (CEDICE) and the Instituto de Estudios Superiores de Administración (IESA). In July 2003, AVE launched a programme to disseminate knowledge about corporate governance issues and in August 2003 established an Executive Council for Corporate Best Practices, with the participation of a broad range of private sector and public sector entities, including the Comisión Nacional de Valores (CNV) and the Bolsa de Valores de Caracas (BVC).
- 172. <u>Regional Initiatives:</u> In addition to efforts undertaken by domestic groups, a number of institutions have also played an important role in advancing the corporate governance agenda regionally. In addition to the OECD and IFC, the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), Inter-American Investment Corporation (IIC), the Andean Development Bank (CAF) and the Ibero-American Federation of Securities Exchanges (FIABV) all participated actively in the Roundtable process.
- 173. IFC, together with the OECD, serve as the Secretariat to the Latin American Corporate Governance Roundtable. In addition, IFC has provided technical assistance in connection with a variety of national efforts, including the legal and regulatory reforms in Chile, Brazil and Colombia. IFC seeks to implement the recommendations of the White Paper through its work with investee countries. The methodology IFC developed in Latin America for assessing and improving the corporate governance of clients is now applied, with appropriate modifications, on a global basis.
- 174. IDB will host a forum of high-level policy makers on the topic of corporate governance (at which implementing the recommendations of this White Paper will be discussed) on November 14, 2003. The IDB Group supports securities markets operations focused on introducing legal and regulatory frameworks,

setting prudential norms, supporting professional training, establishing supervisory procedures and financial information systems, restructuring market oversight entities, modernizing accounting standards, auditing practices and information disclosure requirements, introducing corporate governance rules and legislation. The so-called "cluster" for Accounting and Auditing standards and information disclosure requirements of the multilateral investment fund represents a programme particularly relevant for disclosure and governance. The programme aims to improve the transparency of information systems and is being undertaken in 11 countries, i.e., Argentina, Bolivia, Colombia, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, and Peru.

- 175. CAF has developed a Corporate Governance Initiative with the assistance of the private sector, government entities and academic institutions as counterparts within the Andean Region. The initiative includes the creation of an Andean Corporate Governance Network for the exchange of information. Its programme includes three components: 1) the design of a communications and information dissemination strategy on Good Corporate Governance Practices directed at small and medium-size enterprises, management and labour associations, the news media and academia; 2) the preparation of a regional guide of corporate governance principles and practices based on the OECD "White Paper"; and 3) a pilot programme which selects companies within the five countries in the Andean Region to receive special technical assistance in the implementation of corporate governance best practices.
- 176. The Council of Securities Regulators of the Americas (COSRA) has undertaken a programme of work initiated in 2001 with a stock-taking of the legal/regulatory frameworks throughout Latin America. This program was a key input into the work subsequently undertaken by the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) on a world-wide level.
- 177. In April 2002 at the Mexico City meeting of the Roundtable, representatives from national groups working on director training in the region established the Network of Institutes of Corporate Governance of Latin America. With support from the Global Corporate Governance Forum (GCGF), OECD, IFC and the U.S. Center for International Private Enterprise, the Network provides a platform for sharing director training and corporate governance promotional materials and facilitates discussions among like-minded national organisations on institution-building strategies and approaches to legal/regulatory and private voluntary reform efforts. The Network has conducted a series of regular meeting since its foundation, and its members participated in August 2003 in the Corporate Governance Leadership Program organised by the GCGF and Yale University's International Institute of Corporate Governance. In addition to serving as a means for sharing resources, knowledge and experience, the Network has provided impetus for the creation of new national institutes throughout the region, with its membership growing from the initial three formal member groups, to now include representatives from Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Mexico, Peru and Venezuela.

<u>Sources.</u> This Summary Review was written with the assistance and input of many individuals and groups throughout the region, including: IBGC, BOVESPA, Confecamaras, the Mexican Ministry of Finance, Asociación Venezolana de Ejecutivos (Venezuela), Cesar Fuentes (Peru) and Nabil Miguel (Bolivia).

### ANNEX B: CASE STUDIES, LESSON OF RECENT REFORM EFFORTS

# The Politics of Implementing Corporate Governance Reform: Some Lessons from the Chilean Experience

# Alvaro Clarke<sup>2</sup>

### 1. Background

178. The topic of corporate governance in Chile was relatively unexplored until 1997, when the so-called "Chispas" case drew public attention. This episode involved Endesa España, a Spanish utility holding company, and Enersis, the holding company of Endesa Chile, at that time the largest private electricity company in Latin America. In early 1997, Endesa España opened discussions with several executives of Enersis with the intention of consummating a strategic alliance in which Endesa España would take control of Enersis so it could control also Endesa Chile. Among these executives was the CEO of Endesa Chile and President of Enersis. The objective was to acquire the so-called "Chispas" stocks. The "Chispas" were a set of mini-holding companies, originally established as part of an employee stock ownership programme. Their sole assets were shares in Enersis. These shares represented 29% of the ownership in Enersis which owned in turn 20% of Endesa Chile. Each Chispa had two classes of stock, Class A shares that had almost 100% of the ownership but no voting rights, and Class B shares that represented little equity in the Chispas, but had majority voting power. Class A shares were owned mainly by a number of small shareholders and pension funds and Class B shares were in the hands of the above-mentioned Enersis executives.

179. Endesa España wanted to acquire both classes of shares and launched a tender offer to acquire Class A stock of the Chispas. The executives promoted among the shareholders the idea that the price offered by Endesa España for the Class A shares was a good deal, but several market participants expressed disagreement. Even though Endesa España was successful in acquiring the proportion of ownership needed, the operation attracted unusual publicity because of the large price differential between class A and class B shares (the latter being priced 1000% higher).

180. In October of that year, details of the acquisition strategy were made public by the press, because Endesa España had filed several documents with the U.S. SEC and the Spanish CNMV, explaining the terms of the agreement (Endesa España shares were publicly traded in both countries). Among these terms were payments to the Enersis executives linked to profitability goals, Endesa España's right to appoint a parallel CEO in both Enersis and Endesa Chile and the possibility of Endesa España operating in the Latin American region without the participation of its Chilean partner. After these disclosures, the board of

Principal Partner, Clarke y Asociados, Former Finance Vice-Minister and Former Chairman, Chilean Superintendency of Securities and Insurance.

directors of Enersis, in which the only minority directors were those elected by the AFPs (Chile's pension funds), declared that the details of the alliance were unknown to them, and rejected it completely. The CEO was dismissed and Endesa España agreed to reconsider the agreement.

181. The main experiences of this episode were the asymmetric distribution of the control premium, evidenced in the different prices offered and paid to Class A and Class B shareholders of the Chispas, the capacity of shareholders with more negotiating power (i.e. Enersis executives) to obtain better prices for their shares, the disclosure of material information to foreign regulators while withholding the information domestically even though it critically involved a Chilean company, the lack of diligence of minority directors in controlling and monitoring managers, the subsequent squeeze-out faced by shareholders unwilling to tender their shares and, the power vacuum generated by ADR holders disabled by law to vote and elect directors.

### 2. The theory behind the reform

- 182. As a consequence of this episode, the Chilean government set out to design a new regulatory framework for corporate governance and takeovers. To assist in this effort, the Ministry of Finance and the Superintendency of Securities and Insurance called on International Finance Corporation (IFC) in order to have an external partner with recognition and experience.
- 183. The first task involved devising a theoretical framework that would support the entire design and subsequent debate of the bill. Therefore, two main areas in corporate governance were identified: the agency problem and the private benefits of control. The first involves the different incentives faced by managers in contrast with shareholders and the latter relates to the fair distribution of value among the different shareholders.
- 184. At that time, the main problem presented by Chilean corporations was related to private benefits of control, since the ownership structure is ordinarily rather concentrated.
- 185. The problem of private benefits of control itself can be decomposed into two areas: firstly, transfer pricing and misdirection of corporate opportunities; and secondly, the treatment of minority shareholders in the case of takeovers.
- 186. The issue of transfer pricing implies that managers and directors selected by the controlling shareholders (insiders) enter into agreements on behalf of the corporation with parties in which the controlling shareholder has a greater share of the equity or some other sort of economic interest. For this reason, it is not uncommon for companies' legislation and corporate charters to require shareholder approval of sales of all or a substantial part of corporation's assets.
- 187. The problem of misdirection of corporate opportunities is related to the capacity of controlling shareholders to appropriate for themselves commercial opportunities beneficial to the corporation. The classic case is when a potentially profitable business opportunity is proposed to the corporation and the directors elected by the controlling shareholders redirect the business toward another firm in which they somehow have a greater economic interest.
- 188. A number of mechanisms have been put in place in different contexts to deal with the problem of concentration and the resulting issues of transfer pricing and misdirection of corporate opportunities. Among them: the one-share one-vote principle, the reinforcement of the voting rights, the requirement of high quorums for shareholders meetings and the existence of pre-emptive and withdrawal rights. Some of them were already existent in Chile at the time of Chispas case, but others were included or reinforced in the new legislation.

- 189. A takeover is another type of mechanism through which insiders or controlling shareholders can benefit privately at the corporation's expense. Clearly, takeovers are efficient mechanisms to discipline the management and the new regulation was designed so as not to discourage them, although clear and defined procedures and rights were set.
- 190. Takeovers are carried out when the bidder believes it can extract benefits from the acquisition. Those benefits are related to the capacity to generate higher cash flows for the corporation (in that case the transfer is said to be efficient) or to the capacity to extract private benefits at expense of the corporation (an inefficient transfer).
- 191. When a takeover is initiated, the bidder offers to pay a price per share higher than the current market price with the expectation that its controlling position will allow the bidder and the new controller to create more value than the incumbent. A central issue is who is the beneficial owner of that differential, known as the "control premium". The central argument in the design of our reform was that a stock is worth the present value of its cash flows and therefore if the control premium is due to an efficient transfer, then it must be allocated equally among all shareholders. Similarly, if the control premium is due to an inefficient transfer (private benefits for the insiders), then it also must be allocated among all shareholders since those private benefits are extracted from minority shareholders.

### 3. The Reform

- Having set the theoretical framework and the principles to be followed, the Chilean government drafted the Law on Tender Offers and Corporate Governance that included the following central topics:
- 193. Tender offers: A tender offer must be conducted whenever the acquisition allows one person or a group acting in concert to control the corporation. The price per share must be the same and prorated for all shareholders. Additionally, whenever its interest reaches two thirds of the voting shares, the controller is required to carry out a tender offer for the remaining shares. Also, when the intention is the attainment of the control of a subsidiary, a tender offer for that subsidiary must be made before tendering for the shares of the holding company.
- 194. Related party transactions: These transactions must be approved by the board of directors, those with an interest in the transaction are not allowed to vote, and be consistent with standards of fairness similar to those that normally prevail in the market. The option of an independent assessment (appraisal) is required in certain circumstances.
- 195. Auditing Committee: The creation of an audit committee is required for corporations with a stock value greater than U.S. \$45 million. The committee must be composed mainly by independent directors when possible, and its tasks are the examination of reports of independent auditors, executive compensation, related party transactions and other tasks established in the company's charter.
- 196. Derivative lawsuits: Derivative lawsuits were included to allow a shareholder or group of shareholders of a company, holding at least 5% of the company's shares, or any director of the company, to claim in the name and on behalf of the corporation, for compensation of the losses caused to it by anyone that has violated the Corporations Law, its regulations or the company's charter.

- 197. Rights of ADR holders: ADR holders are allowed to vote at shareholders meetings, and to exercise withdrawal rights and pre-emptive rights<sup>3</sup>.
- 198. The new regulation on corporate governance resulted in a modern legislative regime in accordance with the current principles on this issue. As such, Chile has been highly rated by international entities in its degree of shareholder protection. For instance, the Santander Central Hispano bank rated Chile first among the major Latin American markets in shareholder protection; McKinsey&Company highlighted the low shareholder protection premium required for Chilean stock, implying reduced room for improvement; and the World Bank's Review of Standards and Codes (ROSC) report observed that Chile broadly complied with all of the principles on corporate governance set by the OECD.

### 4. The Politics of implementing a corporate governance reform

- 199. The Chilean government initiated the discussion of the draft law on Tender Offers and Corporate Governance in early 1998 and, in early 1999, the bill was presented to the parliament for discussion. Undoubtedly, it was a long and complex task, but a number of factors that affect the success of a reform on corporate governance were taken into account.
- 200. Circumstances: public opinion is importantly affected by the circumstances surrounding the discussion of regulation on corporate governance. For example, depressed stock markets and public awareness events influence public attention in the direction of regulatory action. The latter was the case in Chile, where the Chispas case reached such public notoriety that there was a broad consensus that some regulation must be erected relatively soon.
- Interest groups: An important part of the initial opposition to some aspects of the bill was based on lack of adequate knowledge of the initiative. Some of the most common criticisms voiced were that the new regulation would imply an expropriation of value from current insiders, that it would deter foreign investment, that it would incentivise the de-listings of corporations or that it would merely imply greater costs for shareholders. Therefore, it was very important to initiate promotional efforts. That task was carried out by campaigning with the objective of reaching a critical mass of advocates to share their positive views with other market participants. In that sense, investors were especially active in advocating the reform. SVS<sup>4</sup> organised meetings with top executives of pension funds, investment funds and foreign investors with entrepreneurs and legislators in order to convince these last of the benefits of the initiative. Political parties, of course, were central players in the process. The vision of the initiative had to be centred and balanced, since right-wing political factions would immediately oppose a bill with antientrepreneurship connotations and, on the other side, the centre-left parties would not support timid initiatives.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>3</sup> The bill also included topics not related to corporate governance: The reform set the groundwork for the creation of an emerging market for small companies, the liberalisation of requirements for mutual funds (minimum equity, number of shareholders, participation in shareholders meetings, short sales and allowable investments), the creation of funds for qualified investors, the liberalisation of investment management for investment (closed-end) funds, the creation of stock options and the increase of resources for the Chilean Superintendency of Securities and Insurance.

SVS: The Chilean Superintendency of Securities and Insurance

At the time the reform was undertaken, the executive was represented by a centre-left coalition and the Congress had a balanced representation of government and opposition. To approve the bill it was necessary to create a majority in each chamber including votes from both the opposition and the governing political parties.

- 202. With the passing of time, the principles underlying the proposed reform were understood by most of the parties and, most importantly, they were perceived to be fair. When people perceive that something is fair it gets difficult for them to oppose to it.
- 203. Ownership structure: Regulations protecting minority shareholders rights can face strong opposition from controlling shareholders. This happens to be the Chilean case where the major corporations are controlled by shareholders owning around 70% of voting shares. But that is precisely the reason why a reform was so important, since the development of a participative stock market requires clear regulations for all constituencies and especially for minority shareholders. These minority shareholders include institutional investors, like pension funds, mutual funds, investment funds and insurance companies, which are more sophisticated and are able to monitor their investments more efficiently, producing positive externalities to the market. These are particularly listened to by regulators and legislators. Recent privatisation experiences are also important. Legislators concern themselves with the protection of small shareholders and the governance structure of newly privatised companies.
- 204. Design of the bill: In Chile, the contribution of external advisors was important, since they helped to build a good theoretical base and enriched the discussions thanks to their experience in the implementation of similar regulations in other markets. The good name of recognised international organisations and people also contributed to promote the initiative. The presentation of the bill was rigorous and included theoretical discussions, international experiences and detailed analyses of cases and scenarios. Additionally, some consideration must be given to the inclusion of topics different from corporate governance. In Chile the bill on Tender Offers and Corporate Governance included a set of other instruments aimed at liberalising and promoting the capital market. That was an additional measure that contributed to add support to reform, because the bill had to be approved as a whole. Finally, the inclusion of a transition mechanism can be useful when facing reforms felt by some to be too radical if implemented at once. In the Chilean case, a three-year opt out provision was included.<sup>6</sup>
- 205. Integration with the world: The more a country is integrated with the rest of the world, the more necessary it is for it to adopt best practices, especially in the capital markets. When politicians and interest groups are aware of the need to attract foreign investment, the process of adopting better corporate governance rules becomes easier. In Chile, an important part of the argumentation in favour of the new rules was based on the need to reinforce access to foreign equity by improving the protection of overseas investors. Moreover, the adoption of shareholder protection rules is vital for national stock exchanges looking to reinforce their presence in the region. The Chilean stock exchanges understood that loose protection mechanisms would intensify the migration of Chilean corporations abroad.
- 206. Communication policy: The SVS relied heavily on the publicity of the bill in order to expose its vision of the reform and to put the topic of corporate governance firmly on the public agenda. The Chairman of SVS attended an important number of seminars and the SVS published a book, including the opinions of several leading academics in support of the reform.
- 207. Negotiations: The political position of the government was complex, since it was necessary to navigate between two different approaches, each associated with one political coalition. For instance, right-wing parties would not support a bill that from one moment to another would withdraw the control premium from the controlling shareholders. That was one of the final obstacles in reaching a consensus. Therefore, the government had to negotiate with these senators the possibility of a transition mechanism that would allow the current controlling shareholders to opt out from the regulation on tender offers for a period of three years. Harshly criticised by some congressmen of the ruling coalition, the opt out provision

This is a three year exemption from the mandatory tender offer requirement for companies that opt for such exemption.

almost caused another important delay in the approval of the law. With hindsight though, there were no avalanches of takeovers, which was the effect that some opponents expected as a consequence of the passage of the reform. As this article is being written, the opt out period is about to expire and a definitive and sound regulation on tender offers will be fully in place soon.

### 5. Conclusions

- 208. If a bill on corporate governance is promulgated according to the basic principles on this issue, so it is not substantially changed along its way through the congress, we can say we were successful in creating a strong regulation on corporate governance. Also, success implies that reform must be understood, accepted and faithfully complied with.
- 209. In order to meet the proposed goals, a number of factors can play in favour or against and the government must be prepared to strengthen the positive aspects and to deal with the adverse ones. These factors include: (a) the circumstances that chronologically surround the discussion; (b) the existence and weight of interest groups; (c) the degree of integration of the market with the rest of the world; (d) the communication policy; and (e) the process of negotiations among the parties.
- 210. Public opinion is affected by the prior events and by the way these are informed and interpreted by the media. The public influences the legislators, who are also influenced by other groups with different interests. It is important to co-ordinate alliances with institutional investors so these can turn into active promoters of the reform, not only toward legislators but also toward the parties against it.
- 211. In the design of the bill, the existence of a solid conceptual base is of fundamental importance. A solid framework for analysing and discussing the problem presented inevitably leads the debate in constructive directions and, at the same time, away from partial considerations or from power battles.

# ANNEX C: OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN LATIN AMERICAN COUNTRIES – AN EMPIRICAL OVERVIEW

### Fernando Lefort<sup>7</sup>

### I. Introduction

- 212. This annex provides a brief review and comparison of ownership and control structures, including board composition, of Latin American companies. It builds on recent empirical and descriptive articles on corporate governance in Latin American economies. This annex also presents new information based on data from ECONOMATICA<sup>8</sup>, annual reports from various companies and the 20-F forms filled with the SEC by Latin American companies listed in US markets (ADRs).
- 213. The most important challenge to be faced in preparing a review and comparison of this type is the poor and dissimilar quality of information among different countries. Information on listed companies is also incomplete due to a scarcity of empirical research at the country level and differing legal requirements about ownership disclosure. There are no region-wide papers on ownership structures in Latin American economies, and only the cases of listed companies in Brazil and Chile have been studied in some detail at the country level. The region also presents important disparities in ownership disclosure requirements. In most cases, notably Mexico and Argentina, not even listed companies are required to disclosure full ownership structures, while in others ultimate ownership is difficult to assess because of the prevalent use of holding companies as ownership vehicles. In many cases, the only reliable information is that reported in the 20-F forms filled by large Latin American companies listed in the US markets. Finally, there is no systematic information available on ownership and control structures of non-listed companies.
- 214. Despite these difficulties, it is clear that two main features characterise the ownership and control structures of most companies in Latin America. First, these companies present a very high ownership concentration. Second, many firms are directly or indirectly controlled by one of the numerous industrial, financial and mixed conglomerates that operate in Latin American economies. A conglomerate is a group of firms linked to each other through ownership relations and controlled by a local family, a group of investors acting in concert or, as has recently become more frequent, by a foreign company. Usually, conglomerates are controlled by the dominant shareholders through relatively complex structures including the use of pyramids, cross-holdings and dual class shares.
- 215. High ownership concentration and conglomerate structures also importantly affect board room composition. Most board members in Latin American companies are related to controllers through family ties, friendship, business relationships and labour contracts.

Fernando Lefort is Professor at the Business School, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, and Director of the Center of Corporate Governance, Business School, PUC Chile.

ECONOMATICA is an Investment Analysis Data Base that provides financial and market information for listed companies in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Mexico, Peru and Venezuela.

- 216. The ownership structure of Latin American firms presents other interesting features. Despite massive privatisation of state-owned companies, the state is still an important shareholder in many large companies throughout the region. In addition, in many cases, the privatisation process importantly shaped the configuration of the ownership and control structures of the privatised companies.
- 217. Pension fund reform in the region has also had an impact on ownership and control structures in Latin America. Directly, pension funds are important minority shareholders in many companies in the region and elect members to their boards. Indirectly, pension fund reform has triggered capital markets and corporate law reforms which have contributed to overall improvement in corporate governance mechanisms. Description of the region has also had an impact on ownership and control structures in Latin America. Pension funds are important minority shareholders in many companies in the region and elect members to their boards. Indirectly, pension fund reform has triggered capital markets and corporate law reforms which have contributed to overall improvement in corporate governance mechanisms.
- 218. Finally, Latin American capital markets have recently experienced a wave of mergers and acquisitions where ownership of flagship domestic companies has been transferred to foreign companies. In addition, during the last 10 years many of the largest Latin American companies have been on North American markets through the ADR mechanism, while domestic trading has contracted, presenting lower turnover ratios and a very low level of new equity issues.

### II. Ownership and control structure and identity in Latin America

This annex examines ownership structures and board practices in six Latin American economies. Table 1 presents selected capital market indicators of these economies. In order to have a rough idea, consider that while the level of annual per-capita income varies from US\$2,000 (Colombia and Peru) to US\$5,000 (Mexico), the ratio of market capitalisation to GDP varies from less than 20% in the case of Argentina to more than 100% in the case of Chile. As we have already mentioned, all six economies present a low turnover ratio with Colombia's the lowest (1%) and Brazil's and Mexico's, 12% and 13% respectively. The number of listed firms ranges from 459 in Brazil to 74 in Colombia. 11

### 1. Ownership concentration

- 220. La Porta et al. (1998) clearly document that, in most developing economies, there is a high level of ownership concentration. A simple measure of ownership concentration can be obtained by looking at the percentage of shares held by the largest shareholders of a set of companies. Table 2 provides such a measure for the single largest, the three largest and the five largest shareholders for a comprehensive set of listed companies from ECONOMATICA in Brazil, Chile, Colombia and Peru, and for the subset of ADR issuing companies in Argentina and Mexico. The evidence is clear. The largest single shareholder in these firms holds, on average, 53% of total shares, and the five largest shareholders add up to almost 80% of total shares. This evidence probably underestimates actual ownership concentration for two reasons. On the one hand, the large firms considered in the sample tend to be less concentrated than smaller firms and, on the other hand, usually several of the five largest shareholders represent, in fact, the same beneficial owner.
- 221. This is not, however, the only evidence available of the high level of ownership concentration in Latin American firms. Empirical evidence derived from slightly different samples of companies supports the results reported in Table 2 of this annex. For the case of large and listed Argentinean corporations, Apreda (2001) and de Michele (2002) report that among the 20 largest listed companies, controlling

47

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See Walker and Lefort (2001).

See Walker and Lefort (2001) and a more detailed explanation below.

Figures from ECONOMATICA.

shareholders hold 65% of equity. In the case of Brazil, Leal et al. (2002) find that, on average, the five largest shareholders of a typical Brazilian firm hold 58% of total capital. Similar results are found in Lefort and Walker (2000c) for listed firms in Chile. They report that the five largest shareholders hold 80% of shares. Finally, Babatz (1997) confirms our findings on ownership concentration in Mexico. The largest shareholder owns 65% of company shares of the average listed company, and 49% in the case of ADR-issuing firms.

### 2. Ownership and control structure

- 222. The very high levels of ownership concentration described above clearly imply that, in Latin American firms, corporate control is tightly exercised by majority shareholders. Therefore, a focus of the corporate governance concern in the region is possible divergence of interest between majority and minority shareholders. Such divergence of interest can be exacerbated by the use of structures designed to separate control rights from cash flow rights. In this sense, an important feature of corporate control structures in the region is the widespread presence of industrial, financial and mixed conglomerates. A conglomerate is a relatively complex corporate structure used by a common owner or group of owners in order to control a wide variety of assets belonging to different listed and non-listed firms. Controllers of Latin American conglomerates use these devices, among other things, to separate ownership from control through pyramid structures, dual class shares and cross ownership.
- 223. The identity of controllers has been changing during the last few years. Although domestic families are still very important players, control has been passing to teams of executives and to foreign companies. In most cases, the only relevant minority shareholders are institutional investors both domestic and foreign. Tables 3 and 4 present evidence regarding the identity of controllers in large listed Latin American companies, the degree of affiliation to conglomerates and the extent of the separation of cash flow and control rights. The tables were constructed using a variety of sources that are detailed below.
- Although conglomeration is the most pervasive form of corporate structure in Latin America, different Latin American countries present different patterns of conglomerate control. Apreda (2001) and de Michele (2002) provide a simple description of ownership structure in large listed Argentinean corporations. As we already mentioned, they report that among the 20 largest listed companies, controlling shareholders hold 65% of equity. The identity of controllers has dramatically changed in the last 5 years with foreign ownership increasing dramatically. Considering the 40 largest listed Argentinean companies, 25 are foreign controlled, 14 are controlled by a local family and there is only one state-owned company. Although pyramid structures are widely employed in Argentina, no precise measure of the extent of this practice is available economy-wide. Khanna and Yafeh (2000) detect 11 conglomerates participating in the ownership of large listed Argentinean firms. Using data of the 24 Argentinean firms that have issued ADRs, we find 93% of affiliation to groups through pyramids but little use of non-voting shares (only 3.9%). In these companies, the controlling group has rights, directly or indirectly, over 68% of firm's cash flows.
- 225. In the case of Brazil, the most salient feature of control structures is the widespread use of non-voting shares in order to separate control from cash flow rights. Distortions introduced by the tax and regulatory regime during the eighties encouraged the issuance and purchase of non-voting shares in that country. Brazilian law allowed companies to issue dual class shares in a ratio of up to 1/3 of voting shares to 2/3 of non-voting shares. Leal et al. (2002), Leal and Oliveira (2002) and Siffert (2002) describe in some detail the ownership structure of Brazilian companies. As in the other countries in the region, they

Recently, however, the law was amended decreasing the proportion of new non-voting shares to 50% of total capital.

find that conglomerates are the predominant form of corporate structure in Brazil. Khanna and Yafeh (2000) encountered 38 conglomerates participating in the ownership of large listed Brazilian firms. Using data on the 39 ADR Brazilian issuers, we find 89% of affiliation with conglomerates through pyramids. However, dual class shares are the most common way of separating voting from cash flow rights in Brazilian firms. Almost 90% of 459 listed Brazilian firms reporting to ECONOMATICA have non-voting shares that represent 120% of total voting capital. In spite of the substantial use of dual class shares and pyramids, Brazilian controllers hold more equity than strictly needed for control. In these companies, the controlling group has rights, directly or indirectly, over 60% of firm's cash flows.

- 226. In terms of the identity of controlling shareholders, these studies show that when considering the 100 largest non-financial firms in Brazil, 2 are characterised by disperse ownership, 29 are controlled by a family (local group), 37 are controlled by a foreign firm and in 32 the controller is the federal government. Table 3 presents these results in percentage terms.
- 227. Like other Latin American countries, Chile presents a very high ownership concentration and a corporate structure dominated by the presence of conglomerates. Lefort and Walker (2000c) indicate that 68% of listed non-financial Chilean firms are controlled by one of the approximately 50 non-financial conglomerates, representing 91% of the assets of non-financial companies listed in Chilean stock markets. At present, approximately half of these 50 conglomerates are controlled by a foreign multinational company.
- 228. Chilean conglomerates are structurally relatively simple. The most common way of separating voting from cash flow rights is through simple pyramid structures with only 1/3 of affiliated listed companies being second or higher tier in the pyramidal structure. In contrast, only 7.5% of listed firms have dual class shares while cross-holdings are forbidden by law. Although controllers of Chilean companies tend to separate their voting rights from their cash flow rights though the use of these pyramids, as in the Brazilian case, they usually hold more equity than strictly needed for control. In fact, on average, 57% of consolidated equity is directly or indirectly owned by controllers. Many times, beneficial ownership is difficult to ascertain due to the extensive use of private holding companies as investment vehicles due to their tax efficiency.
- 229. Although deficiencies in data make it impossible to present detailed and definitive conclusions about ownership structure in Mexico, Babatz (1997), Castañeda (2000) and Husted and Serrano (2001) shed some light for the case of this country. As in the other markets considered in this study, ownership concentration is very high in Mexico and conglomerates are the most common form of corporate structure. These hold, on average, 65.5% of listed companies shares. In the Mexican case, separation of ownership and control is achieved through both dual class shares and pyramid structures. Table 4 shows that 37% of listed firms have issued non-voting shares and 59% of listed firms belong to a pyramid structure. There are several classes of shares issued by companies. Usually, class A shares convey full voting rights and are tightly held by the controlling family. Most traded stocks have limits regarding voting rights and are held by the minority interest. Foreign ownership has also increased lately. According to Babatz (2000), 18% of Mexico's 150 largest listed companies are foreign controlled.

\_

Lefort and Walker (2000c), Agosín and Pastén (2000) and Majluf et al. (1998) are recent papers on conglomerates and corporate structure in Chile.

Firms refrain from issuing dual class shares in order to attract pension fund investments and avoid being penalised by risk rating agencies. See Lefort and Walker (2000c).

### 3. Institutional investors

- 230. Individual investors are unimportant in most Latin American companies. However, institutional investors, in particular pension funds, do play a role in corporate governance. Early pension fund reform in Chile followed by later reforms in Argentina, Colombia, Peru and Mexico gave private pension funds an important role as suppliers of capital. In addition, pension reform has triggered capital market and corporate law reforms that have helped to improve overall minority shareholders protection. Walker and Lefort (2001) provide several examples that indicate that pension reform relates to the accumulation of "institutional capital" creates a more dynamic legal framework nicreases specialisation, innovation, transparency and integrity of capital markets, and also improves corporate governance practices They also present statistical evidence consistent with the hypothesis that pension fund reform reduces firms' cost of capital, lowers security-price volatility, and increased trading volumes.
- 231. In several cases, pension funds, individually or as a group, have achieved large enough holdings of shares to justify an important role as minority shareholders, thus overcoming the classical free rider problem. In addition, because of the nature of the funds administered by pension fund managers and their political influence, they have become important opinion leaders in issues regarding corporate governance and minority shareholders protection. Examples of this type of influence by institutional investors are the ENERSIS and Terra cases in Chile. More specifically, Walker and Lefort (2001) show that by the year 2000, pension fund holdings of corporate bonds and stocks as a fraction of market capitalisation accounted for 15.9% in Chile, 24.8% in Argentina and 32.1% in Peru. In the case of Mexico, because of both the short life of the pension reform and the channelling of their investments into indexed government bonds, domestic institutional investors still play a very limited role in private capital markets (Husted and Serrano (2001)). In Brazil, Siffert (2000) indicates that, sometimes because of the privatisation process, there has been an increase in companies displaying shared control, where institutional investors, both domestic and foreign, hold large stock blocks and act as relevant, though not controlling shareholders.

### III. Board practices and composition in Latin America

232. Corporate law in most Latin American countries explicitly indicates that boards are the main decision making body of a company and that board members owe duties of loyalty and care to all shareholders. However, as a consequence of the high ownership concentration observed in most firms in the region, boards in Latin American countries tend to be much weaker than in the US or UK, and constitute a poor governance mechanism. In general terms, boards in Latin America serve mainly an

Iglesias (1999) cites 25 legal reforms in Chilean capital ma

See Valdés and Cifuentes (1990).

Iglesias (1999) cites 25 legal reforms in Chilean capital markets that were triggered by pension fund investing needs.

For example, in conjunction with the country's pension fund reform, a new bankruptcy law was implemented in Argentina (Law 24.552 of 1995). In Chile, the Association of Pension Funds (ASAFP) notifies the authorities and influences public opinion about corporate governance situations that are negative for pension funds. Also pension fund managers are typically required by the Superintendency of Pension Fund managers (SAFP) to file reports regarding events or transactions by security issuers that may have negative effects on pension fund investments. In Peru, being "AFPable" became a new status for securities issuers, requiring more information transparency (Ramos, 1999).

In the first, a mutual fund manager opposed the bid by ENDESA Spain and called for an extraordinary shareholders meeting. In the second, pension fund managers informed the regulator about the poor conditions of the sale of Terra to Telefonica Spain.

advisory function for controllers, include very few independent board members and exhibit few if any functioning committees.

- 233. Independence is an important characteristic for a board member. Hillman and Dalziel (2003) argue that a board room has to present an adequate balance between independent and non-independent board members in order to provide both monitoring capacities and strategic resources to the company. In recently adopted rules, the SEC made the distinction between non-independent and affiliated board members. While a non-independent board member is a person related to the company through a job or some other business or material relationship such as being a supplier or a competitor<sup>19</sup>, an affiliated member is a major shareholder of the company, a controller or a person related to the controller of the company. However, in Latin America, because of the extensive use of pyramid structures and the important level of involvement of controllers in the day-to-day business of the company, affiliated board members tend to be also non-independent as defined by the SEC.
- 234. There is very little systematic information on board composition in Latin American countries. For many countries, the only available information is reports on 20-F forms filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Table 5 summarises our findings through various sources. On average, Latin American board rooms have less than 8 board members and less than half of them can be considered both independent and non-affiliated. There are few studies for Brazil, Chile and Mexico that help to complement this result.
- 235. The structure and functioning of boards in Brazil is analyzed by Ventura (2000), Leal and Oliveira (2002), Spencer Stuart (1999) and Outra and Saito (2001). As noted above, they find that Brazilian boards serve mainly an advisory role and their members tend to be affiliated with the controlling group. Specifically, 49% of board members are affiliated with controlling shareholders and less than 20% of directors would qualify as independent using US standards. Moreover, CEOs tend also to be affiliated with controllers and only 17% of companies have standing board committees.
- 236. Lefort and Walker (2000c), Iglesias (1999), Majluf et al. (1998) and Spencer Stuart-PUC (2000) look at board composition and functioning in Chile and reach similar conclusions. In particular, the survey prepared by Spencer Stuart-PUC shows that only 55% of directors would qualify as independent and non-affiliated using the SEC definitions: that is, they have no direct family or work relationship with the company or related companies. However, the number of truly independent board members is almost certainly much lower since many self-regarded independent directors have an important part of their income provided by the controllers through other board memberships or consulting activities. Lefort and Walker (2000c) show that when considering the 5 largest conglomerates, more than 80% of directors can be considered affiliated to the controllers. Even in the case of companies where pension funds own shares, on average, only 10% of board members are actually elected with pension funds votes.<sup>20</sup>
- 237. Additional evidence indicates a lack of monitoring activities of Chilean boards. Spencer Stuart-PUC reports that only 29% of boards of directors in Chile have established standing board committees. Lefort and Walker (2000c) look at interlocking boards in Chilean conglomerates and find, on average, that each board member of a listed firm affiliated to a conglomerate sits on 1.6 board rooms. In addition, conglomerates do not share directors. Only 3% of directors out of a total sample of 1,530 sit on boards of two or more companies belonging to different controllers.
- 238. Things are not very different in Mexico. As indicated by Babatz (1997) and Husted and Serrano (2001), appointing directors in Mexico is largely a family affair. A simple look at board composition

A non-independent board member is prone to present conflict of interests.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Iglesias (2000).

shows that 53% of directors are either top executives of the firm, of other firms of the group, or relatives of such executives. However, the lack of independence is probably worse because political dependence and other kinds of relationships such as the local "compadrazgo" (godfather relationships).

Table 1								
Market Indicators								
Country	GDP per	GDP per	Market	Total	Claims of	Claims of	# of	# of ADR
	cap.(US\$)	cap.(US\$)	Cap./GDP	Value	Deposit money	other	listed	(4)
	(1)	PPP adjusted	(2)	Traded/GD	banks on private	intermediarie	firms	
		(1)		P (2)	sector/GDP (2)	s/GDP (2)	(3)	
	(2002)	(2002)	(1997)	(1997)	(1997)	(1997)	(2002)	(2002)
Argentina	2400	-	0.11	0.04	0.15	0	152	24
Brazil	3580	7300	0.19	0.12	0.23	0.05	459	39
Chile	4590	9100	0.84	0.09	0.45	0.12	260	24
Colombia	2020	6060	0.13	0.01	0.16	0.15	74	3
Mexico	5070	8790	0.32	0.13	0.22	0.03	201	37
Peru	2080	4660	0.11	0.04	0.09	0.01	175	2
Average	3290	7182	0.28	0.07	0.22	0.06	220.2	21.5

<sup>(1)</sup> Country Risk Guide, Coface (2003).

<sup>(4)</sup> www.NYSE.com

		Table 2		
Ownership Concentration				
Country	Sample	% of largest	% of 3 largest	% of 5 largest
		shareholder	shareholders	shareholders
	(2002)	(2002)	(2002)	(2002)
Argentina**	15	61%	82%	90%
Brasil*	459	51%	65%	67%
Chile*	260	55%	74%	80%
Colombia*	74	44%	65%	73%
Mexico**	27	52%	73%	81%
Peru*	175	57%	78%	82%
Average	168.3	53%	73%	79%

<sup>\*</sup> Data from ECONOMATICA.

<sup>(2)</sup> Dermigüç-Kunt, Asli and Ross Levine (2001), "Financial Structure and Economic Growth". MIT Press. (Data of 1997).

<sup>(3)</sup> ECONOMATICA.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Data from 20-F ADR filings.

Table 3						
Controller Identity						
Country	Domestic-private	Foreign Controlled	State	Disperse	# of Groups	% of affiliation
	Controlled		Controlled	Ownership	(1)	to groups
					(1997)	(2) (2002)
Argentina*	38.6%*	59.1%*	2.3%*	0%*	11	93%
Brazil**	43%**	33%**	21%**	3%**	38	89%
Chile	69%	30%	0.8%	0%	50***	68%
Colombia					7	50%
Mexico		18%****			14	72%
Peru					5	100%
Average					19.2	79%

<sup>(1)</sup> Khanna and Yafeh (2000) "Business Groups and Risk Sharing Around the World". Working Paper. Except Chile.

		Table 4			
Separation of ownership and control					
Country	% de firms	Non voting/	% of firms in	% cash flow	
	with non	voting shares	pyramids (3)	rights of	
	voting shares	(2)		controller	
	(1) (2002)	(2002)	(2002)	(2002)	
Argentina	3.9%	0.14	93%	68%	
Brazil	86.9%	1.29	89%	60%	
Chile	7.2%	0.07	68%	57%**	
Colombia*	7.1%	0.09	50%	-	
Mexico	37.8%	-	72%	59%	
Peru*	61.0%	0.25	100%	-	
Average	34.0%	0.37	79%	61.0%	

<sup>(1)</sup> Number of firms with preferred shares/number of total firms (Economática).

<sup>(2)</sup> For Argentina, Brazil, Colombia and Peru, data from 20-F ADR filings.

<sup>\*</sup> Apreda (2000). 40 largest firms.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Siffert, Nelson "Governança Corporativa: Padroes internacionais e evidencias empiricas no brasil nos anos 90". Working Paper.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup>Lefort, Tarziján, Espinosa (2003) "Corporate Investment in Chile: Group Effect". Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile .

<sup>\*\*\*\*</sup> Babatz (2000).

<sup>(2)</sup> Number of preferred shares/Number of common shares (Economática).

<sup>(3)</sup> Data from 20-F ADR filings.

<sup>\*</sup> Only two firms in the sample.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Lefort and Walker (2000b) "Ownership and Capital Structure of Chilean Conglomerates: Facts and Hypotheses for Governance". Abante.

Table 5					
Board Structure					
Country	# of board	% of	Board Members/		
	members	independent	<b>Board Seats</b>		
		members			
	(2002)	(2002)	(2002)		
Argentina*	8.1	38.8%	1.20		
Brazil*	8.5	28.6%	1.10		
Chile**	7.6	55.0%	1.60		
Colombia***	5.0	50.0%	-		
Mexico*	11.4	54.0%	1.09		
Peru***	6.0	62.4%	-		
Average	7.8	48.1%	1.25		

<sup>\*</sup> Data from 20-F ADR filings.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Spencer-Stuart (2000) "Directors Guide". \*\*\* Data from 20-F ADR filings (2 firms).

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY FOR ANNEX C**

- Agosin, M. and Pastén, E.. Corporate Governance in Chile. Working Paper.
- Apreda, R., (1991-2000). Corporate Governance in Argentina. Working Paper, Cema University.
- Bryan, H., and Serrano, C..(2001). Corporate Governance in Mexico. Working Paper.
- Castañeda, G., Internal Capital Markets and Financial Crisis. An Explanation of the Mexican Recovery after the 1995 Crisis. Working Paper.
- De Gortari, F., Determinantes del Acceso al Financiamiento del Exterior de los Corporativos Mexicanos. *Gaceta de Economía.*, *6*,12.
- Gálvez, J., and Tybout, J. Microeconomic Adjustments in Chile during 1977-81: the Importance of Being a Grupo. *World Development*, 13,8,969-994.
- Gledson de Carvallo, A.(2002). Efeitos da Migracao para Níveis de Governanca. Working Paper, Sao Paulo University.
- Hillman, A. and T. Dalzel (2003), Boards of Directors and Firm Performance: Integrating Agency and Resource Dependence Perspectives, *The Academy of Management Review*.
- Iglesias, Augusto (1999). "Economic Impact of Pension Reforms in Chile". Mimeo.
- Iglesias, Augusto (2000). "The Impact of Pension Reform on Corporate Governance Practices and Regulations: Evidence from Chile". *ABANTE*, Studies in Business Management, Vol.3 N°1, October/April. pp.
- La Porta, Rafael, Florencio López-de-Silanes, Andrei Shleifer and Robert Vishny (1996). Law and Finance", *NBER WP* 5661.
- La Porta, Rafael, Florencio López-de-Silanes, Andrei Shleifer and Robert Vishny (1997). Legal determinants of External Finance, *The Journal of Finance*, July.
- Leal, R., and De Oliveira, C., (2002), An Evaluation of Board Practices in Brazil. Working Paper, Rio de Janeiro Federal University.
- Lefort, F, 2003, Gobierno Corporativo: ¿Que es? Y ¿Cómo andamos por casa?. Cuadernos de Economía, Na 120.
- Lefort F. and Walker E. 2000 a. Corporate Governance: Challenges for Latin America. Revista ABANTE, Vol 2, N°2, Octubre.

- Lefort F, and Walker E. 2000 b. The Effects of Economic Shocks on Corporate Governance Systems in Chile. Revista ABANTE, Vol 2, N°2, Octubre.
- Lefort F, and Walker E. 2000 c. Ownership and Capital Structure of Chile'1, Abril.
- Lefort F, and Walker E. 2001. Economic Performance of Conglomerates: Evidence from Chile. Preliminary Version.
- Marcillo, F., and Coutinho, L.(2001) Corporate Governance in Brazil. Working Paper.
- Michele, R., Corporate Governance: An Introduction to the Argentine Case. Working Paper.
- Mujica, A., and Rivera, J..(2000) Indice de Directorios. Working Paper.
- Nail, L., (2001), Issues in International Corporate Control and Governance. *Research in International Business and Finance, volume 15.*
- Paredes, R., and Sánchez, J.M.,(1995). Organización Industrial y Grupos Económicos: El caso de Chile. Working Paper.
- Martínez, L.,(2001), La Importancia de la Protección de los Derechos de Propiedad en el Sistema Financiero y en el Crecimiento Económico. Working Paper.
- Pereira, R., Carvalhal, A., and Mourthé, S., (2002). Estrutura de Controle das Companhias Brasileiras de Capital Aberto. *Revista de Administracao Contemporánea V. 6,1,7-18*.an Conglomerates: Facts and Hypothesis in Chile. Revista ABANTE, Vol 3, N
- Ramos, Jorge (1999). La Experiencia de las Administradoras de Fondos de Pensiones en el Financiamiento de las Empresas a través del Mercado de Capitales en el Perú. Mimeo, AFP Integra, Perú.
- Siffert, N., Governanca Corporativa: Padroes Internacionais e Evidencias Empíricas no Brasil nos Anos 90. Working Paper.
- Srour, G., Práticas Diferenciadas de Governanca Corporativa: Um estudio sobre a conduta e a performance das firmas brasileira. Working Paper.
- Tarzijan, J., and Rivera, J..(2002) Reasons for Conglomeration: Empirical Analysis of Management Responses in Chile. *Revista ABANTE, 3,2,203-226*.
- Valdés P., Salvador y Rodrigo Cifuentes (1990). "Previsión Obligatoria para la Vejez y Crecimiento Económico. Documento de Trabajo N° 131, Instituto de Economía Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile.
- Walker, E., and Lefort, F. (2001) Pension Reform and Capital Markets: Are There Any (hard) Links?. Working Paper, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile.
- Wigodski, T., and Zúñiga, F., (2003) Gobierno Corporativo en Chile después de la Ley de Opas. Working Paper. 38.

#### ANNEX D: GLOSSARY

Alternative dispute resolution: The use of private arbitration and or mediation to resolve civil disputes that might otherwise go to court. For example, a stock exchange may offer private arbitration binding on listed companies to shareholders seeking redress for violations of their rights. While normally seen as a supplement to the judiciary, to be effective private arbitration and mediation should have some formal legal backing.

**Annual report:** A report issued by open companies to their shareholders each year. Normally contains information on overall performance, future prospects and audited financial information.

**American Depository Receipt (ADR):** A certificate issued by a U.S. depository that represents a number of shares of stock issued by a non-U.S. company. ADRs are normally traded on a U.S. exchange, but may not give the holder all the rights that shares in a U.S. company would.

**Audit committee:** A committee formed from members of the company's board of directors or supervisory board. Non-executive board members normally make up all or a majority of the committee. The audit committee normally oversees the company's financial reporting and sometimes risk management and or legal compliance. The committee may also have the power to assess and / or block related party transactions.

**Beneficial owner:** The person who benefits from the ownership of a security or other property, the *de facto* owner. The beneficial owner may not always be the same as the nominal owner (who is registered as the owner or who holds the title to the property).

**Capital increase:** An issue of new shares by a company.

**Class action lawsuit:** A lawsuit filed by one or more persons on behalf of a group of individuals all having the same grievance. Until recently these suits were only allowed in certain common law countries.

**Control pyramid:** Ownership structure where a parent company will control a fraction of another company, which may own a control fraction of a third company, etc. This will allow the owner of the parent company to control the subsidiaries while having a fraction of the underlying ownership. Can be combined with cross-shareholdings to make very complex corporate structures.

**Controlling shareholder**: A shareholder who has enough votes to choose a majority of the board and exert *de facto* control over management. A shareholder may be able to control the company while owning less than 50% of the equity through the use of shares with special voting rights, control pyramids, and other tactics.

**Corporate governance:** The relationships between a company's management, its board, its shareholders and other stakeholders. Corporate governance provides the structure through which the objectives of the company are set, and the means of attaining those objectives and monitoring performance are determined.

**Cross-shareholding:** When two or more companies hold each other's shares. Frequently used in conjunction with control pyramids.

**Cumulative voting:** Under cumulative voting, shareholders assign votes to one or more candidates for the board, instead of voting separately for each board member. Each shareholder receives a number of votes proportionate to their shareholdings—i.e. their number of shares multiplied by the number of open board seats. Under cumulative voting, 10%-15% of vote is normally enough to select one board member. This may allow minority shareholders to choose some members of the board.

**Derivative suit:** A law suit seeking damages from board members or other company officers filed by a shareholder or shareholders on behalf of the company. If successful, damages can be used to defer the legal expenses of the filing shareholders, but the remainder is awarded to the company, not directly to the filing shareholders.

**Duty of care:** The duty of a board member to act on an informed and prudent basis in decisions with respect to the company. Often interpreted as requiring the board member to approach the affairs of the company in the same way that a "prudent man" would approach their own affairs. Liability under the duty of care is frequently mitigated by the business judgement rule.

**Duty of loyalty:** The duty of the board member to act in the interest of the company and shareholders. The duty of loyalty should prevent individual board members from acting in their own interest, or the interest of another individual or group, at the expense of the company and all shareholders.

**General meeting:** Meeting of shareholders, at which board members may be elected and shareholder resolutions, items requiring shareholder approval (i.e. a merger) and external or statutory auditors may also be approved or rejected. Shareholders may also have the opportunity to put questions to the company's management at the general meeting.

**Independent board member:** Typically refers to a non-executive board member who has no business or contractual relationship (other than his or her service as a board member) with the company, is not under the undue influence of any other board member or group of shareholders, and who is generally capable of acting in an informed and objective manner. However, criteria for independence may vary among countries and companies, depending on the patterns of control and affiliations with other companies. The definition of independence for an individual company can usefully be defined with reference to national codes, regulations or best-practice guidelines that reflect national circumstances.

**Insider:** A company board member, official, or a controlling shareholder. Can also refer to other *de facto* insiders, e.g. a shadow director or someone else who exerts control over day-to-day operations of the company.

**Institute of Directors (IoD):** An organisation for board members that normally provides training along with other services.

**International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS):** The financial reporting standards created by the London based International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC). Dozens of countries have adopted IFRS, or actively harmonise their accounting rules with IFRS. These standards are also commonly referred to as International Accounting Standards (IAS).

**Minority shareholder:** A shareholder whose stake in the company is too small to allow them to have a direct influence on the company's board or management. A shareholder who is not a controlling shareholder.

**Proxy:** Someone empowered to vote on behalf of other shareholders at the general meeting. Also refers to the mail-in ballot that shareholders in some countries can use to vote in the general meeting without attending.

**Pre-emptive rights:** The right of existing shareholders to participate in any capital increase. Pre-emptive rights should preclude the company selling new shares on favourable terms to only some shareholders or to non-shareholders.

**Related party transaction:** A transaction carried out between the company and one or more of its officers, board members, or significant shareholders, their close relatives or associates, or an entity in which they have an interest.

**Shadow director:** a common law designation for someone who does not serve on the board, but exerts considerable influence on its deliberations.

**Stakeholders:** Individuals or groups, in addition to shareholders, who have a significant interest in, and/or influence over, the company's operations and the achievement of the company's goals, such as employees, creditors, suppliers, customers, and the community.

**Statutory auditor:** Elected by shareholders to oversee the internal auditing and financial reporting of the company and in some cases compliance with regulation and shareholder resolutions. Statutory auditors make up the company's audit board.

**Tag-along rights:** When a controlling shareholder sells enough equity to control the company to a new owner, the right of other shareholders to sell their shares, usually on the same terms as the controlling shareholder; i.e. a requirement for someone seeking to acquire a control stake to offer to buy equity from all shareholders, not just the controlling shareholder.

#### ANNEX E: LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

 Argentina
 Dr. Marcos Bertin
 Tel: 00 54 11 4322 3232

Director, Corporate Governance Division Fax: 00 54 11 4322 3232 Voyer International e-mail: mbertin@voyer.com.ar

Voyer International Arroyo 828 P 3 Buenos Aires C1007AAB Argentina

Argentina Mr. Mario Casellini Tel: 00 54 11 4311 2055

Executive Director Fax: 00 54 11 4315 3492

FUNDECE (Business Foundation for Quality and e-mail:

Excellence) m\_casellini@fundece.org.ar

Bouchard 644 1° 'C' Buenos Aires C1106ABJ Argentina

Argentina Ms. Analía Cuervo Tel:

Consultant Fax:

Argentina e-mail: jchiar@sion.com

 Argentina
 Dr. Emilio Ferré
 Tel: 00 54 11 4329 4735

 Commissioner
 Fax: 00 54 11 4329 4749

Comisión Nacional de Valores e-mail: eferre@mecon.gov.ar

25 de Mayo 175
Buenos Aires

 Argentina
 Mr. Guillermo Fretes
 Tel: 00 54 11 4313 8856

 Partner
 Fax: 00 54 11 4313 8887

Partner Fax: 00 54 11 4313 8887 Fretes & Arieu - Abogados e-mail: gafretes@infovia.com.ar

25 de Mayo 432, Piso 12

Buenos Aires C1002ABJ Argentina

1002 Argentina

Argentina Mr. Carlos Alberto Leone

Active Consulting Viamonte 1145 P 6B

Buenos Aires C1053ABW Argentina Tel: 00 54 11 4372 0071 Fax: 00 54 11 4372 0071 e-mail: cleone@bonfra.com.ar

**Argentina** Mr. Narciso Muñoz

Vicechairman Comisión Nacional de Valores

25 de Mayo 175 Buenos Aires C1002ABC Argentina Tel: 00 54 11 4329 4706 Fax: 00 54 11 4345 2879 e-mail: nmunoz@cnv.gov.ar

Argentina Ms. 1

Ms. Elvira Schamann Secretary General

Ibero-American Federation of Exchanges - FIAB

Cerrito 1266 Piso 12, Of. 50 Buenos Aires C1010AAZ Argentina Tel: 00 54 11 4816 4401 Fax: 00 54 11 4816 1997

e-mail: eschamann@fiabnet.org

Argentina

Ms. Silvina Vatnick

Director

Center for Financial Stability San Martin 483 2nd Floor

Buenos Aires C1004AAI Argentina Tel: 00 54 11 4328 7306

Fax: 00 54 11 4328 7280

e-mail: svatnick@cfsargentina.org

**Argentina** 

Dr. Carlos Marcelo Villegas

Vice President

Centre for Financial Stability

San Martín 483, Piso 2

**Buenos Aires** 

1004 Argentina Tel: 00 54 11 4328 7280 Fax: 00 54 11 4328 7306

e-mail:

villegas@nicholsonycano.com.ar

**Bolivia** 

Mr. Juan Javier Estenssoro Moreno

Superintendente

Superintendencia de Pensiones, Valores y Seguros

Calle Reyes Ortiz,

Esq Federico Zuazo No. 74,

La Paz 6118 Bolivia Tel: 00 591 2 233 1212

Fax: 00 591 2 233 0001

e-mail: jjestenssoro@spvs.gob.bo

Bolivia Mrs. Raquel Galarza Anze. Tel: 00 591 2 409 090 int 1201

Legal Manager Fax: 00 591 2407931

Banco Central de Bolivia e-mail: rgalarza@mail.bcb.gov.bo

Calle Ayacucho, esq. Mercado La Paz Bolivia

Bolivia Dr. Nabil Miguel Agramont Tel: 00 59 12 231 3943

Corporate and Financial Lawyer Fax: 00 59 12 231 3943 Estudio Juridico Financiero e-mail:

Calle Federico Zuazo No.1598 nmiguel@caoba.entelnet.bo Edificio Park Inn piso 5 of 53

La Paz 4345 Bolivia

Bolivia Dr. Sergio Pantoja Navajas Tel: 00 591 706 924 50

Corporate Lawyer Fax: 00 59 12 2751 449 PO Box 6901 e-mail:

La Paz pantojasergio@hotmail.com Bolivia

Brazil Mr. Paulo Cezar Aragão Tel: 00 55 21 3365 4584

Barbosa, Müssnich & Aragão Advogados Fax: 00 55 21 3365 4598

Av. Presidente Juscelino e-mail: pca@bmalaw.com.br São Paulo

04543-000 Brazil

**Brazil** Mr. Claudio Avanian Jacob Tel: 00 55 11 3233 2341

Analyst Fax: 00 55 11 3233 2051

Bolsa de Valores de Sao Paulo (Bovespa) e-mail: cjacob@bovespa.com.br Rua XV de Novembro, 275

5° andar São Paulo 01013-001 Brazil

Brazil Mrs. Heloisa Bedicks Tel: 00 55 11 3043 7008

CEO Fax: 00 55 11 3043 7005

Instituto Brasileiro de Governança Corporativa e-mail:

GC) heloisa.bedicks@ibgc.org.br

Avenida das Nações Unidas, 12.551 - 19° andar,

Conj 1910, World Trade Center São Paulo

04578-903 Brazil

Brazil Mr. Luiz Cantidiano Tel: 00 55 21 3233 8242

> Chairman Fax: 00 55 21 2221 6769

> Comissão de Valores Mobiliaros e-mail: pte@cvm.gov.br Rua Sete de Setembro, 111 - 32° andar

Centro Rio de Janeiro 20159-900 Brazil

Brazil Mr. Mauro Rodrigues da Cunha, CFA Tel: 00 55 11 3039 3763

**Investment Officer** Fax: 00 55 11 3039 3863

> Bradesco Templeton Asset Management Ltda. e-mail: cunha@bradesco-

Av Brig Faria Lima, 1461 templeton.com.br

3° andar São Paulo SP 01481 900

Brazil

**Brazil** Mr. Cristiano de Souza Tel: 00 55 21 2512 9394

> Fax: 00 55 21 2512 5720 Partner

Dynamo Asset Management e-mail:

Av. Ataulfo de Paiva, 1351 cristianos@dynamo.com.br

7° Andar Rio de Janeiro 22440-031 Brazil

Tel: 00 55 11 3043 7008 **Brazil** Mr. Paulo Diederichsen Villares

Fax: 00 55 11 3043 7005 Chairman

Instituto Brasileiro de Governança Corporativa e-mail: paulodv@terra.com.br

Avenida das Nações Unidas, 12.551 - 19º andar,

Sala 1910 World Trade Center São Paulo

04578-903

Brazil

Brazil Mrs. Sandra Guerra Tel: 00 55 11 3908 8030

CIO and Marketing Director Fax: 00 55 11 3908 8485

CPM SA e-mail: Rua Jeronimo Teles Junior, 35 sandra.guerra@cpm.com.br

Sao Paulo 05154-010 Brazil

Brazil Mr. Bengt Hallqvist

Former Chairman

Instituto Brasileiro de Governança Corporativa

TBGC)

Albuquerque Lins 867, Apt 803

São Paulo 01230-001 Brazil Tel: 00 55 11 3662 3587 Fax: 00 55 11 3662 3587

e-mail: bengthh@amcham.com.br

Brazil Mr. Henrique Lang

Partner

Pinheiro Neto - Advogados

Rua Boa Vista, 254, 90 andar

Sao Paulo 01014-907 Brazil Tel: 00 55-11-237-8618 Fax: 00 55-11-237-8600

e-mail:

hlang@pinheironeto.com.br

**Brazil** Mr. Eduardo Manhães Ribeiro Gomes

Head, Market Development and International

Affairs Department

Comissão de Valores Mobiliaros Rua Sete de Setembro, 111 - 30° andar

Centro

Rio de Janeiro 20159-900 Brazil Tel: 00 55 21 3233 8263 Fax: 00 55 21 3233 8292

e-mail: eduardom@cvm.gov.br

**Brazil** Mr. Antonio Mendes

Senior Partner

Pinheiro Neto - Advogados

Rua Boa Vista, 254, 90 andar

Sao Paulo 01014-907 Brazil Tel: 00 55 11 237 8510 Fax: 00 55 11 237 8600

e-mail:

amendes@pinheironeto.com.br

Brazil Mr. Gilberto Mifano

Chief Executive Officer

Bolsa de Valores de Sao Paulo (Bovespa)

Rua XV de Novembro, 275

São 01013-001 Brazil Tel: 00 55 11 233 2183 Fax: 00 55 11 233 2403

e-mail:

gilberto mifano@bovespa.com.br

Brazil

Mr. José Luiz Osorio de Almeida Filho

Partner

Jardim Botanico Partners

Rua Baronesa de Pocone 233, Apt. 101,

Centro

Rio de Janeiro 22471-270 Brazil Tel: 00 55 21 2512 5574 Fax: 00 55 21 2537 0473

e-mail:

ilosorio@jbpartners.com.br

Brazil Mrs. Adriana Sanches Tel: 00 55 11 3233 2003

Listing and Business Development Department

Bolsa de Valores de Sao Paulo (Bovespa)

Fax: 00 55 11 3233 2403

e-mail: asanches@bovespa.com.br

Rua XV de Novembro, 275

5° andar São Paulo 01013-000 Brazil

Brazil Ms. Maria-Helena Santana Tel: 00 55 11 3233 2361

Director Fax: 00 55 11 3233 2051

Bolsa de Valores de Sao Paulo (Bovespa) e-mail:

Rua XV de Novembro, 275 msantana@bovespa.com.br

5° andar São Paulo 01013-001 Brazil

Brazil Mr. Paulo Vasconcellos Tel: 00 55 11 5181 6845

Partner Fax: 00 55 11 5182 6183

ProxyCon Assessoria Empresarial e-mail: paulo@proxycon.com.br

Rua Americo Brasiliense, 1765 Cj. 103 Sao Paulo 04715-003

Brazil

**Brazil** Mr. Leonardo Viegas Tel: 00 55 11 3722 2189

Chair, Education Committee Fax: 00 55 11 3721 5294
Instituto Brasileiro de Governança Corporativa e-mail: lviegas@attglobal.net

(IRCC)

Avenida das Nações Unidas, 12.551 - 19º andar

São Paulo 04578-903 Brazil

Chile Mr. Alvaro Clarke de la Cerda Tel: 00 56 2 235 9890

Consultant Fax: 00 56 2 235 6875

Padre Mariano 272 of 202, Providencia e-mail: aclarke@clarkeyasoc.cl

Santiago Chile

Chile

Chile Mr. Pablo Cruzat Tel: 00 56 2 675 5833

Asesor Fax: 00 56 2 675 4555 Ministerio de Hacienda e-mail: pcruzat@minhda.cl

Teatinos 120

Floor 12, oficina 15 Santiago

66

Chile Mr. Ricardo Escobar

Partner Carey y Cía

Miraflores 222 Piso 24

Santiago Chile

Chile Mr. Alejandro Ferreiro

Superintendency of Securities and Insurance Av. Bernardo O'Higgins 1449, Piso 12,

Santiago 834-0518 Chile

Chile Dr. Fernando Lefort

Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile

Escuela de Administracion Vicuña Mackenna 4860

Santiago Chile

Chile Mr. Dieter Linneberg

Advisor

Superintendency of Securities and Insurance Av. Bernardo O'Higgins 1449, Piso 12, 834-0518

Santiago Chile

Chile Mr. Felipe Moro

Carey y Cía

Miraflores 222 Piso 24

Santiago 6500786 Chile

Colombia Mr. Andres Bernal

Legal Assessor, Corporate Governance Project

Colombia

Confecámaras - CIPE

Carrera 13, No 27-47, Of 502

Bogotá Colombia

Colombia Mr. Clemente Del Valle Borraez

Chaiman

Supervalores - Colombian Securities Authority

Avenida El Dorado 68 B 85 Piso 2

Bogotá Colombia Tel: 00 56 2 365 7216 Fax: 00 56 2 633 1980

e-mail: Rescobar@carey.cl

Tel: 00 56 2 473 4035 Fax: 00 56 2 473 4003

e-mail: aferreiro@svs.cl

Tel: 00 562 686 4353

Fax: 00 562 553 1672 e-mail: flefort@faceapuc.cl

Tel: 00 56 2 473 4035 Fax: 00 56 2 473 4003

e-mail: dlinnebe@svs.cl

Tel: 00 56 2 365 7201 Fax: 00 56 2 633 1980

e-mail: fmoro@carey.cl

Tel: 00 57 1 346 7055 Fax: 00 57 1 346 7026

e-mail:

andresbernal@confecamaras.org.c

O

Tel: 00 571 427 0536

Fax: 00 571 427 0815

e-mail:

cdelvalle@supervalores.gov.co

Colombia Miss Paola Gutierrez Velandia

Corporate Governance Program Manager for Fax: 00 57 1 3

Colombia

Confecamaras - CIPE

Carrera 13 No. 27 - 47 Piso 5.

Bogota AA 29750 Colombia Tel: 00 57 1 3 46 70 55 Fax: 00 57 1 3 46 70 26

e-mail:

pgutierrez@confecamaras.org.co

Colombia Mr. Andres Vega Jaramillo

Project Manager - Strengthening of Capital Markets

Bolsa de Valores de Colombia Carrera 8 N.13-82 Piso 7

Bogotá Colombia Tel: 00 57 1 336 1623 Fax: 00 57 1 341 8885

e-mail: proyecto\_bid@bvc.com.co

Colombia

Mr. José Alberto Velez

President

Grupo Argos

Carrera 43A, No. 7-50, Piso 17, Torre Empresarial

Dann Medellin Colombia Tel: 00 574 319 8709

Fax:

e-mail: javelez@grupoargos.com

Colombia

Mr. Santiago Velez Penagos

Representante Legal para Asuntos Judiciales

Exito SA

Cra 48, No 32, BS 139

Envigado Medellin AA 3479 Colombia Tel: 00 57 4 339 6503

Fax: 00 57 4 339 5235

e-mail: santiago.velez@grupo-

exito.com

Colombia

Mr. Carlos Yepes Jimenez

Director, Unidad Juridica Asesoria

Bancolombia

Carrera 52 No. 50-20 Piso 14

Medellin Colombia Tel: 00 574 510 8750 ext 8750

Fax: 00 574 510 8799

e-mail:

cyepes@bancolombia.com.co

Mexico

Mr. Roberto Danel

Corporate Governance Consultant Control de Gestion de Negocios, S.C.

Calderon de la Barca No. 359-200

Col. Refoma Polanco

Mexico DF 11560 Mexico Tel: 00 52 55 5531 5939

Fax: 00 52 55 5531 2638

e-mail: cgestion@prodigy.net.mx

Mexico Mr. Jorge Familiar Calderon

Vicepresident - Stock Exchange Supervision

Comision Nacional Bancaria y de Valores (CNBV)

Insurgentes Sur 1971Torres Sur, piso 10

Mexico Mexico

Mr. Samuel Podolsky Mexico

President

Instituto Mexicano de Gobernabilidad Corporativa

Avenida De Las Palmas 1115

Lomas de Chapultepec

México D.F. 11000 Mexico

Tel: 00 52 55 5202 1104 Fax: 00 52 55 5202 5104 e-mail:

Tel: 00 52 55 5724 6650

Fax: 00 52 55 5724 6976

e-mail: jfamiliar@cnbv.gob.mx

sampodolsky@gobernabilidad-

corporativa.org

Mexico Mr. James E. Ritch Grande Ampudia

Partner

Ritch, Heather y Mueller, S.C.

Torre del Bosque

Blvd. M. Ávila Camacho No.24, Piso 20

Mexico DF, 11000 Mexico

Tel: 00 52 55 9178 7037 Fax: 00 52 55 9178 7095 e-mail: jritch@rhm.com.mx

Mexico Mrs. Vanessa Rubio Márquez

Acting General Director for International Financial

Affairs

Secretaría de Hacienda y Crédito Público

Palacio Nacional 4° Patio Mariano Edif D 4° Piso

Col. Centro México 06000 Mexico

Tel: 00 52 55 9158 1181 Fax: 00 52 55 9158 1182

e-mail:

vanessa\_rubio@hacienda.gob.mx

Mr. Eduardo Trigueros Gaisman Mexico

Listing and Issuers Director Bolsa Mexicana de Valores Paseo de la Reforma 255, P.B.

Col. Cuauhtenoc

Mexico 06500 Mexico

Tel: 00 52 55 5726 6727 Fax: 00 52 55 5726 6944 e-mail: etriguer@bmv.com.mx

**Peru** Mr. Roque Benavides

Chair

Association of Corporate Directors of Peru

(ASDIC)

C/o Buenaventura Av Carlos Villaran 790

Lima 13 Peru

Peru Mr. Carlos Eyzaguirre Guerrero

President

Comisión Nacional Supervisora Empresas y

Valores (CONASEV) Av. Santa Cruz 315

Miraflores Lima 18 Peru

**Peru** Mr. Cesar Fuentes

Treasurer

Association of Corporate Directors of Peru

(ASDIC)

Alonso de Molina 1652, Monterrico Chico,

Lima 100 Peru

Peru Mr. Aldo Fuertes Anaya

Principal Analyst

Center for Economic Development

Av. Los Incas 172, Piso 7

San Isidro Lima 27 Peru

Peru Mr. José Moquillaza Risco

Member of the Board

Organismo Supervisor de la Inversion Privada en Infraestructura de Transporte (OSITRAN) Calle Bolivia No 120 . Piso 19o Centro Civico

Lima 1 Peru Tel: 00 511 419 2538 Fax: 00 511 471 7349

e-mail:

roqueben@buenaventura.com.pe

Tel: 00 511 422 7300 Fax: 00 51 1 422 7196

e-mail:

ceyzaguirre@conasev.gob.pe

Tel: 00 511 440 7236

Fax: 00 511 345 1328 e-mail: CFuentes@esan.edu.pe

Tel: 00 511 436 9750 Fax: 00 511 426 8988

e-mail: afuertes@prestaclub.com

Tel:

Fax: 00 511 271 9925

e-mail:

jose.moquillaza@mail.com

Peru Mr. Andres Nobl Tel: 00 511 421 2112

Director Ejecutivo Fax: 00 511 441 5410

Asociación de Directores Corporativos (ASDIC) e-mail: andyno@terra.com.pe Antequera 866

San Isidro Lima 27 Peru

Peru Dr. Federico Oviedo Vidal Tel: 00 511 619 3333 (ext. 2202)

> Fax: 00 511 619 3350 **CEO**

Stock Exchange of Lima e-mail: foviedo@bvl.com.pe

Pasaje Acuña 106 Lima 1 Peru

Tel: 00 34 91 585 0901 **Spain** Mr. Santiago Cuadra Abeti

Secretario General Fax: 00 34 91 585 1641 Instituto Iberoamericano de Mercados de Valores e-mail: santiago@cnmv.es

Paseo de la Castellana, 21 bajo derecha

Madrid 28046 Spain

Mr. Juan Munguira Gonzalez Tel: 00 34 91 585 2255 **Spain** 

Lawyer, member of the International Affairs Fax: 00 34 91 585 4110 e-mail: Munguira@cnmv.es

Department

Comision Nacional del Mercado de Valores

(CNMV) Paseo de la Castellana 19

**MADRID** 28046 Spain

United Mr. Noel Hinton Tel: 00 44 20 7382 9026 Deputy Director General Fax: 00 44 20 7638 1554 Kingdom

The Takeover Panel

PO Box 226

The Stock Exchange Building

London EC2P 2JX United Kingdom

United Mr. Chris Pierce Tel: 00 44 207 451 3292 Head of Director Training and Development Kingdom Fax: 00 44 207 766 2606

Institute of Directors e-mail: chris.pierce@iod.com

e-mail:

116 Pall Mall London SW1Y 5ED United Kingdom

**United States** Mr. Sherman Boone

Tel: 00 1 202 622 1246 Senior International Economist Fax: 00 1 202 622 1254

United States Department of Treasury e-mail:

1500 Pennsylvania Ave, N.W.

Washington 20220 **United States**  Sherman.Boone@do.treas.gov

**United States** 

Tel: 00 1 650 312 2406 Mr. Stephen Dover

Managing Director, International Chief Investment Fax:

Officer

Franklin Templeton Advisors

One Franklin Parkway

San Mateo 94403-1906 **United States**  e-mail: sdover@frk.com

Tel: 00 1 202 371 5763

Fax: 00 1 202 371 5950

**United States** 

Mr. Raul Herrera

Head, Latin American Practice Group

Winston and Strawn, LLP 1400 L Street, N.W.

Washington 20005 **United States**  e-mail: rherrera@winston.com

**United States** 

Mr. Steven Polansky

Director, International Affairs and Services

**NASD** 

1735 K Street, NW

Washington 20006-1516 **United States**  Tel: 00 1 202 728 8331 Fax: 00 1 202 728 8089

e-mail:

steven.polansky@nasd.com

**United States** 

Ms. Georgia Sambunaris Financial Markets Specialist

United States Agency for International

Development (USAID) EGAT/EG, Ste 2.10-091

1300 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW

Washington 20523-2600 **United States**  Tel: 00 1 202 712 0212 Fax: 00 1 202 216 3593

e-mail: gsambunaris@usaid.gov

**United States** 

Mr. John Zemko

Senior Program Officer, Latin America and the

Caribbean

Center for International Private Enterprise (CIPE)

1155 15th Street NW, Suite 700

Washington 20005 **United States**  Tel: 00 1 202 721 9238 Fax: 00 1 202 721 9250 e-mail: jzemko@cipe.org

Venezuela Ms. Sonia De Paola de Gathmann

General Manager

Asociacion Venezolana de Ejecutivos

Av. Venezuela.

Edif. Venezuela, Piso 3, Oficina 33, El Rosal

Caracas 1060 Venezuela

Venezuela Mr. Italo Pizzolante Négron

President

Asociacion Venezolana de Ejecutivos

Av. Venezuela.

Edif. Venezuela, Piso 3, Oficina 33

Caracas Chacao 1060 Venezuela Tel: 00 582 12 952 4944 Fax: 00 582 12 952 5722

e-mail: ave\_gerencia@cantv.net

Tel: 00 582 12 952 4944 Fax: 00 582 12 953 9222

e-mail:

ave\_presidencia@cantv.net

# **International Organisations**

Corporación	Mr. Camilo Arenas Samper	Tel: 00 58 212 209 2181		
Andina de	Director, Financial Markets Department	Fax: 00 58 212 209 2325		
Fomento	Corporación Andina de Fomento	e-mail: carenas@caf.com		
(CAF)	Av. Luis Roche, Torre CAF			

(CAF) Av. Luis Roc Caracas 69011 Venezuela

 Global
 Ms. Alyssa Machold
 Tel: 00 1 202 473 6857

 Corporate
 Projects Officer
 Fax: 00 1 202 522 7588

Governance Global Corporate Governance Forum e-mail: amachold@worldbank.org

Forum c/o The World Bank Group

1818 H Street, NW
Washington

20433 United States

 Global
 Ms. Anne Simpson
 Tel: 00 1 202 473 3604

 Corporate
 Manager
 Fax: 00 1 202 522 7588

Governance Global Corporate Governance Forum e-mail: asimpson@worldbank.org

Forum c/o The World Bank Group
1818 H Street NW

Washington 20433 United States

Inter-Mr. Fernando de MergelinaTel: 00 1 202AmericanInterAmerican Development BankFax: 00 1 202Development1300 New York Avenue, N.W.e-mail:

Bank (IADB) Washington fernandodem@consultant.iadb.org

20577
United States

Inter-Mr. Pietro MasciTel: 00 1 202 623 2617AmericanChief, Infrastructure and Financial MarketsFax: 00 1 202 623 2157

**Development** Division e-mail: pietrom@iadb.org

Bank (IADB) InterAmerican Development Bank
1300 New York Avenue, N.W.

Washington 20577 United States

Dr. Antonio Vives Tel: 00 1 202 623 1608 Inter-American Deputy Manager, Infrastructure, Financial Markers Fax: 00 1 202 623 1708 **Development** and Private Enterprise, e-mail: antoniov@iadb.org

Inter-American Development Bank Bank (IADB)

> 1300 New York Av. N.W. Washington **United States**

Tel: 00 1 202 623 2876 Inter-Mr. Jean-Michel Houde Principal Corporate Advisor to the General Fax: 00 1 202 623 3815 American Manager e-mail: jeanh@iadb.org Investment

Corporation **Inter-American Investment Corporation** 

1350 New York Avenue, NW, Office B-1130 Washington

20016 **United States** 

Mr. Darrin Hartzler Tel: 00 1 202 473 0027 International **Finance** Senior Corporate Governance Officer, Corporate Fax: 00 1 202 974 4459 Governance Unit, Global Financial Markets Corporation e-mail: dhartzler@ifc.org

(IFC) Department

International Finance Corporation (IFC) 2121 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW,

Washington 20433 **United States** 

International Mr. Mike Lubrano Tel: 00 1 202 473 7891 Principal Securities Market Specialist, Global Fax: 00 1 202 974 4459 **Finance** 

Financial Markets Department, Head, Corporate e-mail: mlubrano@ifc.org Corporation (IFC) Governance Unit

International Finance Corporation (IFC) 2121 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW,

Washington 20433 **United States** 

Finance

**International** Mr. Bernard Pasquier Tel: 00 1 202 473 0736

Corporation International Finance Corporation (IFC)

Director, Latin America and the Caribbean

e-mail: bpasquier@ifc.org 2121 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, (IFC)

Fax:

Washington 20433 **United States** 

International Finance Corporation (IFC) Mr. Peter Taylor Corporate Governance Officer, Corporate Governance Unit, Global Financial Markets

Department

International Finance Corporation (IFC) 2121 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW,

Washington 20433 United States

International Monetary Fund (IMF) Ms. Katharine Christopherson Counsel, Legal Department International Monetary Fund (IMF)

Room GS4-244 700 19th Street, N.W.

Washington 20431 United States

**World Bank** 

Mr. Alexander Berg

Senior Private Sector Development Specialist,

**Investment Climate Department** 

The World Bank 1818 H Street NW Room I9-032 Washington 20433 United States

**World Bank** 

Mr. Olivier Frémond

Program Coordinator, Corporate Governance,

**Investment Climate Department** 

The World Bank Group 1818 H Street NW Room I9-025 Washington 20433

**United States** 

Tel: 00 1 202 458 1704 Fax: 00 1 202 974 4459 e-mail: ptaylor@ifc.org

Tel: 00 1 202 623 5376 Fax: 00 1 202 589 5376

e-mail: kchristopherson@imf.org

Tel: 00 1 202 473 3687 Fax: 00 1 202 522 2029

e-mail: aberg2@worldbank.org

Tel: 00 1 202 473 2714 Fax: 00 1 202 522 2029

e-mail: Ofremond@worldbank.org

# **OECD** Secretariat

**OECD** Mr. William H Witherell

Director, Directorate for Financial, Fiscal and

**Enterprise Affairs** 

OECD

2, rue André Pascal

Paris 75016 France Tel: 01 45 24 91 00 Fax: 00 33 1 45 24 13 32

e-mail:

william.witherell@oecd.org

**OECD** Mr. Mats Isaksson

Head of the Corporate Affairs Division

**OECD** 

2, rue André Pascal

Paris 75016 France Tel: 01 49 10 43 40 Fax: 01 49 10 43 53

e-mail: mats.isaksson@oecd.org

**OECD** Mr. Daniel Blume

Principal Administrator

Corporate Affairs Division

**OECD** 

2, rue André Pascal

Paris 75016 France Tel: 01 49 10 42 80 Fax: 01 49 10 43 53

e-mail: daniel.blume@oecd.org

**OECD** Miss Laura Holliday

Project Co-ordinator, Corporate Affairs Division

OECD

2, rue André Pascal

Paris 75016 France Tel: 01 49 10 43 50 Fax: 01 49 10 43 53

e-mail: laura.holliday@oecd.org